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TELECONFERENCE
This meeting is being held via teleconference only pursuant to Government Code section 54953(e)(1)(B) and in compliance
with the Brown Act. Section 54953(e)(1)(B) permits a Brown Act legislative body to hold a meeting during a proclaimed state
of emergency via teleconference in order to determine whether as a result of the emergency meeting in person would present
an imminent risk to attendees' health or safety. To do so, the body is required (1) to post notice and agendas as otherwise
provided by the Brown Act and applicable law, (2) allow members of the public to access the meeting via call-in line or internetbased service line, (3) provide details on the agenda on how to access the meeting and give public comment, (4) provide an
opportunity to comment pursuant to Government Code section 54954.3 and allow a reasonable amount of time during public
comment for a person to register, login, and comment, and (5) monitor the call-in line and/or internet-based service line to
ensure no disruption hinders access or ability to comment, if there is, take no action until public access is restored. The
Executive Committee is not required to provide a location to attend or comment in-person.
The Governor proclaimed a state of emergency due to the COVID-19 virus pandemic on March 4, 2020. The proclamation
remains active and applies statewide. The Suisun-Solano Water Authority Board is meeting pursuant to Section 54953(e)(1)(B)
to determine if the emergency conditions pose a threat to attendees' health and safety, warranting teleconference meetings. The
Board is complying with other public access and participation obligations, as required and to ensure that any member of the
public may attend, participate, and watch the Board conduct their business.
Any person may access and comment during the meeting by doing the following:
 Public Access – The meeting will be hosted on Zoom, attendees can access via computer or phone.
 Meeting ID: 885 3250 0425
 Via computer – go to Zoom.com and enter Meeting ID OR click https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88532500425
 Via phone – call 1-669-900-9128 and enter meeting ID
 Public Comment – opportunity for public comment is offered written and live during the meeting.
 Written – written comments can be submitted via email to SSWAcomments@sidwater.org or via U.S. mail to
Suisun—Solano Water Authority, Attn: Gerardo Santana, 810 Vaca Valley Parkway, Ste 201 – Vacaville, CA
95688. Please put the agenda item number, if applicable, in the subject line. Comments received prior to the
introduction of the agenda item will be distributed to the Board, made available for public review, and made part
of the record.
 Oral – comments may be given in real time during the designated time for public comment by unmuting or using
the "Raise Hand" function. Please email SSWAcomments@sidwater.org prior to the introduction of the agenda
item, preferably before the start of the meeting, if you need additional assistance with providing a public comment
at the meeting.

Billing

701 Civic Center Blvd
Suisun City, CA 94585
(707) 421-7320

A Joint Powers Authority
Providing Drinking Water to the City of Suisun City

Operations

1090 Aviator Drive
Vacaville, CA 95688
(707) 448-6847
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Suisun-Solano Water Authority Board Meeting Agenda
April 11, 2022

AGENDA
1. Preliminary
1.1. Call Meeting to Order
1.2. Roll Call
1.3. Continuation of Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to the Brown Act, Government Code
section 54953(e), as Amended By Assembly Bill (AB) 361: Consider Adoption of
Resolution No. 21-18 Re-Ratifying The Proclamation Of A State Of Emergency By
Governor’s Order Dated March 4, 2020 And Re-Authorizing Remote Teleconference
Meetings Of The Legislative Bodies Of Suisun/Solano Water Authority Pursuant To Brown
Act Provisions. (Page 3)
1.4. Approval of Agenda
1.5. Pledge of Allegiance
1.6. Conflict of Interest Notification (Any agenda items that might be a conflict of interest to any
Board members should be identified at this time by the Board member)

2.

Presentations
None

3.

Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items)

4.

Informational Items
4.1. Capital Improvement Project Status Report. (Page 16)
4.2. FY 2021-22 SSWA Budget to Actual Report Update – Information Only. (Page 19)

5.

Consent Calendar
5.1. Approval of the Minutes of the December 13, 2021, Board Meeting. (Page 24)

6.

Scheduled Items
6.1. Adoption of Resolution No. 22-02 Acceptance of the SSWA Financial Statements and
Independent Auditor’s Report for June 30, 2021. (Page 27)

7. Board Comments
8. Staff Comments
9. Adjourn
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SUISUN/SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
BOARD MEETING
MEETING DATE: April 11, 2022

Agenda Item No. 1.3

Title: Continuation of Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to the Brown Act, Government
Code section 54953(e), as Amended By Assembly Bill (AB) 361
Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 22-01 Re-Ratifying The Proclamation Of A State Of
Emergency By Governor’s Order Dated March 4, 2020 And Re-Authorizing Remote
Teleconference Meetings Of The Legislative Bodies Of Suisun/Solano Water Authority
Pursuant To Brown Act Provisions
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
On March 4, 2020, the Governor proclaimed a state of emergency to exist because of the threat
of the COVID-19 virus pandemic. That proclamation remains in effect to this day and applies
statewide. From March 2020 until September 2021, the Suisun/Solano Water Authority
legislative bodies met via teleconference pursuant to the Governor's Executive Order N-29-20.
That order, and SSWA's option to meet pursuant to its provisions, expired September 30, 2021.
Government Code section 54953(e), as enacted by Assembly Bill 361, allows for teleconference
public meetings without complying with traditional Brown Act teleconference requirements if
there is a state of emergency proclaimed by the Governor and meeting in person would be a
threat to attendee health or safety. Section 54953(e) allows teleconference meetings and, most
notably:
 Agendas are not required to be posted at all teleconference locations.
 Agendas are not required to identify each teleconference location.
 Each teleconference location need not be publicly accessible.
On December 13, 2021, the Board adopted Resolution 21-18 pursuant to Section 54953(e). The
Board found that a state of emergency existed and conditions of that emergency made meeting in
person a threat to attendee health and safety such that all SSWA legislative bodies were directed
to meet via teleconference pursuant to Section 54953(e).
A resolution to meet pursuant to Section 54953(e) must be reevaluated at least every 30 days.
Resolution 21-18 expired on January 12, 2022, until the Board takes further action. If Resolution
21-18 expires, all SSWA legislative body meetings will be required to comply with traditional
Brown Act teleconference meeting requirements.
To renew its resolution to meet pursuant to Section 54953(e), the Board must make certain
findings including (1) the Board has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency
and (2) either the state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to
meet safely in person, or state or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to
promote social distancing.
Should the Board, by majority vote, pass Resolution No. 22-01, then SSWA legislative body
meetings may continue to be held pursuant to Section 54953(e). If passed today, Resolution No.
22-01 will expire on May 11, 2022. On or before that date, the Board may take action to rescind
the Resolution or again extend it.
2141439.1 14900-007
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RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends the Suisun/Solano Water Authority Board of Directors find a state of
emergency continues to exist and poses a threat to legislative body meeting attendees' health and
safety and resolve all SSWA legislative body public meetings be held pursuant to Government
Code section 54953(e).
FINANCIAL IMPACT: None
ATTACHMENT:
1) SSWA proposed Board Resolution No. 22-01
2) SSWA Board Resolution No. 21-18
3) March 4, 2020, Governor's Proclamation of a State of Emergency
STAFF RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORT:

Cary Keaten, SSWA Manager

2141439.1 14900-007

04/07/2022

Date
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SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
RESOLUTION NO. 22-01
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SUISUN/SOLANO WATER
AUTHORITY RE-RATIFYING THE PROCLAMATION OF A STATE OF EMERGENCY BY
GOVERNOR’S ORDER DATED MARCH 4, 2020 AND RE-AUTHORIZING REMOTE
TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS OF THE LEGISLATIVE BODIES OF SUISUN/SOLANO WATER
AUTHORITY PURSUANT TO BROWN ACT PROVISIONS.
WHEREAS, the Suisun/Solano Water Authority ("SSWA") is committed to preserving and nurturing
public access and participation in meetings of the Board of Directors; and
WHEREAS, all meetings of SSWA legislative bodies are open and public, as required by the Ralph M.
Brown Act, Government Code section 54950 et seq., so that any member of the public may attend,
participate, and watch SSWA's legislative bodies conduct their business; and
WHEREAS, Government Code section 54953(e), makes provision for remote teleconferencing
participation in meetings by members of a legislative body, without compliance with the requirements of
Government Code section 54953(b)(3), subject to the existence of certain conditions; and
WHEREAS, Government Code section 54953(e)(1) provides a legislative body may meet via
teleconference if the Governor has proclaimed a state of emergency pursuant to Government Code section
8625 proclaiming the existence of conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and
property within the state caused by conditions as described in Government Code section 8558 and either
(i) state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing, (ii) the
legislative body meets to determine by majority vote that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person
would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees, or (iii) the legislative body has voted as
such and is meeting pursuant to that vote; and
WHEREAS, a legislative body's decision to meet pursuant to Section 54953(e) must be reevaluated and
renewed at least every thirty (30) days and, in that time, the body must reconsider the circumstances of
the state of emergency and find either (i) a state of emergency remains active and continues to directly
impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person or (ii) state or local officials continue to
impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing; and
WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom proclaimed a state of emergency pertaining to
the threat to human health and safety posed by the COVID-19 virus pandemic and that proclamation
remains in effect to this day statewide; and
WHEREAS, the virus has short- and long-term effects – fever and chills, cough, shortness of breath and
difficulty breathing, fatigue, headache, nausea, vomiting, gastrointestinal issues, loss of taste and smell,
death – and its prolific spread is severely impacting the health care system, inhibiting access to care for
COVID-19 symptoms and other ailments; and
WHEREAS, while being vaccinated significantly decreases the likelihood of contracting or dying from
the virus, vaccinated and unvaccinated people alike can carry, transmit, and be affected by the virus; and
WHEREAS, the COVID-19 virus, and its variants, is spread through the air when a person who is
carrying the virus, whether he or she is showing symptoms or not, is in close proximity to another person;
and
WHEREAS, while the COVID-19 virus remains present in the community, allowing members of the
SSWA's legislative bodies and members of the public to meet in person continues to present an imminent

5

risk to attendee health and safety beyond the control of SSWA services, personnel, equipment, and
facilities; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 8635 et seq., the Board has the authority during a state
of emergency to take all actions necessary to perform its functions in the preservation of law and order,
preservation of the furnishing of local services, and protection of life and property, which includes the
authority to direct meetings of all SSWA legislative bodies to be held via teleconference pursuant to this
Resolution; and
WHEREAS, the Board adopted Resolution No. 21-18 on December 13, 2021, finding that the requisite
conditions exist for SSWA legislative bodies to hold meetings via teleconference pursuant to Government
Code section 54953(e) and without compliance with Section 54953(b)(3); and
WHEREAS, the Board has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency issued by the
Governor, does hereby find emergency conditions persist in SSWA's service area that directly impact the
ability of meeting attendees members to meet safely in person, and desires for SSWA legislative bodies to
continue to meet pursuant to Government Code section 54953(e); and
WHEREAS, the Board does hereby find that SSWA legislative bodies shall conduct their meetings
pursuant to Government Code section 54953(e) by offering all meeting attendees access and an
opportunity to comment via a teleconference and/or video conference option; and
WHEREAS, SSWA has taken and is taking measures to ensure public access and opportunity to offer
public comment, including by providing teleconference and/or video conferencing access to members of
the public for all meetings of SSWA legislative bodies.
NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SUISUN/SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS:
Section 1. Recitals. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are incorporated into this
Resolution by this reference.
Section 2. Proclamation of Emergency. The Board hereby proclaims that a state of emergency continues
to exist throughout the SSWA operating area.
Section 3. Ratification of Governor’s Proclamation of a State of Emergency. The Board hereby ratifies
the Governor of the State of California’s Proclamation of State of Emergency, effective as of its issuance
date of March 4, 2020, and applicable statewide.
Section 4. Remote Teleconference Meetings. The staff and legislative bodies of Suisun/Solano Water
Authority are hereby authorized and directed to take all actions necessary to carry out the intent and
purpose of this Resolution including, conducting open and public meetings in accordance with
Government Code section 54953(e) and other applicable provisions of the Brown Act.
Section 5. Effective Date of Resolution. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption
and shall be effective until the earlier of (i) 30 days from its effective date, (ii) such time the Board of
Directors adopts a subsequent resolution in accordance with Government Code section 54953(e)(3) to
extend the time during which the legislative bodies of Suisun/Solano Water Authority may continue to
teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of section 54953, or (iii) the
Board acts to rescind this Resolution.
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SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
RESOLUTION NO. 22-01

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of Suisun/Solano Water Authority this 11th day of
April, 2022, by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
DATED: April 11, 2022
______________________________
John D. Kluge, President of the
Board of Directors of the
Suisun/Solano Water Authority

ATTEST:

I hereby certify that the foregoing was duly made, seconded and adopted
by the Board of Directors of the Suisun-Solano Water Authority on April
11, 2022.
______________________________

Cary Keaten, Manager of the
Suisun/Solano Water Authority
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SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
RESOLUTION NO. 21-18
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SUISUN/SOLANO WATER
AUTHORITY RE-RATIFYING THE PROCLAMATION OF A STATE OF EMERGENCY BY
GOVERNOR’S ORDER DATED MARCH 4, 2020 AND RE-AUTHORIZING REMOTE
TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS OF THE LEGISLATIVE BODIES OF SUISUN/SOLANO WATER
AUTHORITY PURSUANT TO BROWN ACT PROVISIONS.
WHEREAS, the Suisun/Solano Water Authority ("SSWA") is committed to preserving and nurturing
public access and participation in meetings of the Board of Directors; and
WHEREAS, all meetings of SSWA legislative bodies are open and public, as required by the Ralph M.
Brown Act, Government Code section 54950 et seq., so that any member of the public may attend,
participate, and watch SSWA's legislative bodies conduct their business; and
WHEREAS, Government Code section 54953(e), makes provision for remote teleconferencing
participation in meetings by members of a legislative body, without compliance with the requirements of
Government Code section 54953(b)(3), subject to the existence of certain conditions; and
WHEREAS, Government Code section 54953(e)(1) provides a legislative body may meet via
teleconference if the Governor has proclaimed a state of emergency pursuant to Government Code section
8625 proclaiming the existence of conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and
property within the state caused by conditions as described in Government Code section 8558 and either
(i) state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing, (ii) the
legislative body meets to determine by majority vote that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person
would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees, or (iii) the legislative body has voted as
such and is meeting pursuant to that vote; and
WHEREAS, a legislative body's decision to meet pursuant to Section 54953(e) must be reevaluated and
renewed at least every thirty (30) days and, in that time, the body must reconsider the circumstances of
the state of emergency and find either (i) a state of emergency remains active and continues to directly
impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person or (ii) state or local officials continue to
impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing; and
WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom proclaimed a state of emergency pertaining to
the threat to human health and safety posed by the COVID-19 virus pandemic and that proclamation
remains in effect to this day statewide; and
WHEREAS, the virus has short- and long-term effects – fever and chills, cough, shortness of breath and
difficulty breathing, fatigue, headache, nausea, vomiting, gastrointestinal issues, loss of taste and smell,
death – and its prolific spread is severely impacting the health care system, inhibiting access to care for
COVID-19 symptoms and other ailments; and
WHEREAS, while being vaccinated significantly decreases the likelihood of contracting or dying from
the virus, vaccinated and unvaccinated people alike can carry, transmit, and be affected by the virus; and
WHEREAS, the COVID-19 virus, and its variants, is spread through the air when a person who is
carrying the virus, whether he or she is showing symptoms or not, is in close proximity to another person;
and
WHEREAS, while the COVID-19 virus remains present in the community, allowing members of the
SSWA's legislative bodies and members of the public to meet in person continues to present an imminent
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risk to attendee health and safety beyond the control of SSWA services, personnel, equipment, and
facilities; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code section 8635 et seq., the Board has the authority during a state
of emergency to take all actions necessary to perform its functions in the preservation of law and order,
preservation of the furnishing of local services, and protection of life and property, which includes the
authority to direct meetings of all SSWA legislative bodies to be held via teleconference pursuant to this
Resolution; and
WHEREAS, the Board adopted Resolution No. 21-17 on November 8, 2021, finding that the requisite
conditions exist for SSWA legislative bodies to hold meetings via teleconference pursuant to Government
Code section 54953(e) and without compliance with Section 54953(b)(3); and
WHEREAS, the Board has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency issued by the
Governor, does hereby find emergency conditions persist in SSWA's service area that directly impact the
ability of meeting attendees members to meet safely in person, and desires for SSWA legislative bodies to
continue to meet pursuant to Government Code section 54953(e); and
WHEREAS, the Board does hereby find that SSWA legislative bodies shall conduct their meetings
pursuant to Government Code section 54953(e) by offering all meeting attendees access and an
opportunity to comment via a teleconference and/or video conference option; and
WHEREAS, SSWA has taken and is taking measures to ensure public access and opportunity to offer
public comment, including by providing teleconference and/or video conferencing access to members of
the public for all meetings of SSWA legislative bodies.
NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SUISUN/SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS:
Section 1. Recitals. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are incorporated into this
Resolution by this reference.
Section 2. Proclamation of Emergency. The Board hereby proclaims that a state of emergency continues
to exist throughout the SSWA operating area.
Section 3. Ratification of Governor’s Proclamation of a State of Emergency. The Board hereby ratifies
the Governor of the State of California’s Proclamation of State of Emergency, effective as of its issuance
date of March 4, 2020, and applicable statewide.
Section 4. Remote Teleconference Meetings. The staff and legislative bodies of Suisun/Solano Water
Authority are hereby authorized and directed to take all actions necessary to carry out the intent and
purpose of this Resolution including, conducting open and public meetings in accordance with
Government Code section 54953(e) and other applicable provisions of the Brown Act.
Section 5. Effective Date of Resolution. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption
and shall be effective until the earlier of (i) 30 days from its effective date, (ii) such time the Board of
Directors adopts a subsequent resolution in accordance with Government Code section 54953(e)(3) to
extend the time during which the legislative bodies of Suisun/Solano Water Authority may continue to
teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of section 54953, or (iii) the
Board acts to rescind this Resolution.
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SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
RESOLUTION NO. 21-18

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of Suisun/Solano Water Authority this13th day of
December, 2021, by the following vote:

AYES: Lum, Barrett, Hernandez, Sanchez, Williams, Hudson, Herich, Wilson
NOES: None
ABSENT: Day, Kluge
DATED: December 13, 2021
______________________________
Lori D. Wilson, Vice President of the
Board of Directors of the
Suisun/Solano Water Authority

ATTEST:

I hereby certify that the foregoing was duly made, seconded and adopted
by the Board of Directors of the Suisun-Solano Water Authority on
December 13, 2021.
______________________________

Cary Keaten, Manager of the
Suisun/Solano Water Authority
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EXECUTIVE DNPARTMENT
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PROCTAÅñATION OF A STATE CIf EMERGENCY
$íHËREAS in Decerrber 2019, on outbreok of respirctory illness due
to o novel coronqvirus [o disecse now known as COVID-19), wos first
idenlified in Wuhon Cily. HubeiProvince, Chino, qnd hos spreod outside
of Chinc, impacting more fhon 75 countrics, including fhe UniiecJ Slqtes:

crnd
lJt/flËREASÌhe Stole of Colifornio hcs been working in clt:se
collsi:¡orcfion with lhe nelionol Centers for Disr:ose Conlral ond Prevention
{CnC},.wiih lhe United Stoies Heollh ancJ Humcn Services Agoncy. and
with locol heslth departnienls since December 20i9 to manilor sncl plan
for lhe pr:tenticrl spreod of CÕVlD-l g to the United Stütes: ünd
WHüREA$ on Jcnucry 23,2A2A,lhe CDC octivclecl ils Fmergency
Resporrse; System to provicle ongoing supporl for lhe rêspûnse to COVID'I9

ocross ihe cr:untry; and

WHüRfÅ$ on Jonuüry 24,2û2CI, the Cclifornio Ðepartmenl of Public
lleolth octivoled iis Medicolond Heollh CoordinoTion Cerllor ond on
Mqrch 2,2A20, the Office of Emergency Services octívqted the Stote
Operclions Cenler lo supporl r:nci guicle slole ond locol aciions fo
preserve public heqllh; ond
I,VHEREAS the Cqlif*rnia Deporimenl of Public Heqflh hos been in
regulor communicalion wiih hospitols, clinics ond olher health providers
ond has 6rrovided guidonce tt: heqlih focililies ond providers regording
COVID-19; ond

SlflËREAS os of Merch 4,2020, oËross the globe. lhere ore more
thon 94,00û confirmed coses of COVID-l9, lragicolly resulling in more thon
3,CI00 deoihs worldwide; ond
WHERIAS as of Mçrch 4,2A2A,1here ore 129 confirrned cases of
COVID-19 in ihe Uniled Stoies, includinç¡ 53 in Cqliforniq, and more lhon
9,400 Cctliforníons ccross 49 counlies ore in home moniloring hrosed on
possible lravel-bssed expÕsure lo lhe virus. and officiols expecl the

number of coses in Colifornio,lhe United Slales. ond worldwicle to
increose; ond
WHERË,{S for morç thun o deccde Cölifr:rnis hos hoci cr robusi
pondernic influenzo plon, supported locolsovernrnenls in lhe
developnrent of locc¡l plons, cnd required fhot stoie and locol plans be
regularly updoîed ond exercised; cnd
WHAREAS Cslifornio hos o sïrong fe<Jeral. slole ancJ locol public
heollh rnd heüllh care delivery system lhot hcs effeclively responded lo
prior evenis including lhe H I N I influenzc virus in ?009, qnd mÕ$l recently

[bolo; ancj

drgf:.r.
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WHEREAS experts snlicipcte thst while a high percentuge of
individuuls aifected by COVID-19 willexperience mild flu-like symptoms,
sonre will hc¡ve more serict.rs symptoms cnd require lrospitolizclion.
porticulcrrly individuols wl¡o cre elderly or olreody hcve underlying chronic

heolth conditions;and
lltrt"lERE.Â$ il is imperctive to prepare for ond respond to suspecleci or
confirmed COVID-ì9 coses in CoÌifornio, lo irnplement mecsures to
mífigoie the sprecrd of COVID-19, ond lo prepare 1o respond to on
increosing numher c¡f incjiviciuols requiring mecjicol cclre snd
hos¡:if alization; and

Wl"l*fi*AS if COVID-19 spreods in CslifÕrnia of o rofe compcrcble 1o
the rcrle of sprecrcl in clher counlries, the number of persons requiring
mecliccl ccre moy e:xçeed locolly avoilable resources, cnd conlrolling
oulbreuks minimizes the risk lo the public, moinlains lhe healih ond sofely
of lhe people of Coliforr¡io, ond limiis the spread of infection in our
communilies and within the heolfhcore delivery syslem; clnd
WfIHREAS

personcl proleclive equipment

(PPË) is

noi necessory for

usÐ by ihe ç¡enerol populotion hrut approprioie PPI is one of the mosl
effeclive woys to preserve ar-rd proiect Colifornio's heclihcare workforce

ol ïhis criticol iirne oncl to preveni llre spreod nf COVID-19 broqdly;ünd
WþlËREÂS str:te and locql hesllh de¡:artmenis musi use allovsiloble
prevenlalive mecìsurûs lo cornbal ihe spreod of COVID-,l9, which will
require öccess io serviçës, personnel, equiprmenl, focilities, clnd other
resources, ¡::*lernTiclly includinç resources beyond lhose currently
ovnilcble, to ptepcre for ancJ respond fo any poltl nticl cr:ses cnd the
spreocl of ihe virus: and
WHü5{nAS

lfind thot conditions of Çovernmeni Code seciion

8558{b}, reloting ir: the cleclarqtion of o Stoie of Ëmergency, hove been
met; ond
WHgeËAS I Tind thal lhe condiÌir:ns ccvsed by COVID-l9 are likely fo
require the combinecj forcçs of o rnutuol oicl regicln or regions to
oppropriately rr:sponrJ; cnd
VtIHEffiEAS

under lhe provisions of Governmenl Cc.¡de secïion
is inodequale to cope with llre threqî

8ó25(c), I tind thot loccl cruihorily
posed by CÕV|D-I9;ancJ

WþlERËÀS under lhe provisions of Çovðrnment Cocie seclion 8571, I
find tlrcrl slricl cornplionce with vqrious stciules cnd regulcfions specilied
in lhis order would prevenl. hínder, or delûy oppropriole uclions to
prevent ancJ nriligctc flrç *ffects of lhe COVID-19-

NÕW. THEREFORF. l, GAVIN NEI#$Gñ¡i, Governor o{ lhe Stale of
Californic. in sccordonce with the outhorily vested in me by ihe Stole
Constifution ond staluies, inclu<Jing lhe Cqlifornio Emergency Services
Act, orrd in pcrliculor. Governmenl Code seclion Bó?5. HfRfBY PROCI"AIM
A STATI *f f;MERGENCY lo exíst in Califc¡rnia.

,,i{.ãJ-rÞ
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IT IS HHRNSY ORSËRED TI.IAT:

ln prepcring for and responding to CCIVID-19. oll ogencies of lhe
stote government use ond employ slcle ¡rersonnel, equipmenl,
and focilîlies or perform ony cnd all octivíties consislerri with lhe
direction ol' the. Office of Emergency Services ond the Stote
Êmergency Plan, os wellss the Colitornio Deportment of Public
Health sncl lhe Ëmergency MedicalServices Authority. Also. oll
residents ore tc¡ heed the ocivice of emergency officicls wilh
regorcl io this emergency in order lo proiect their safeiy.

2. As necessorylo

assisl local governmenis oncl far lhe proleciion
of public hecrlth, stole ogencies sholl enler into coniracts to
crronge for lhe procurement of moierials, goods, cnd services
needeql io ossisl in preporing for, coni<rining, responding lo,
mitigating lhe effec'ls of, ond recovering irom lhe spreod of
COVID-19.,\ppliccrble provisions of lhe Çovernment Code on<J
the Public Conlract Code, including bul nol limited to irqvel,
clciverlising. ond compelitive bidding requiremenfs, cre
suspended lo ïhe extent necessöry lo oddress llre effects of

cövta-19.

3.

Any oul-of-slofe personnel, încluding, but nol limited io, medical
personnel, eniering Colifornia to cssist in ¡:repcrring for,
responding lo, nriiigcTirrg the etlects of, ond r$covering from
COVID-.i9 shqll be permitted 'lo ¡:rovide servicös ín the same
nlünnðr os prescribed in Governrnenl CocJe sec'lion 179.5, wilh
respecl lo licensing ond ceriificoiion. Permission for ony such
indíviduol rendering service is subjeci 1o lhe approvol of the
Direclor of lhe Emergency Medical Services Aulhority for
medicql personnel ond the Director of lhe Office of Emergency
Services for non-medícol personnel oncl sholl be in effect for a
period of lime nol to exceed the durotion of this emergency.

4.

The lime linrílc¡tion sei forlh in Fenai Code section 39ó, subdivision
{b}, prohibiting príce gouging in lime of emergency is hereby
wcJivcd as it reloles 1o emergency supplies and medical supplies.
These price goug¡irrg protections shc¡ll be in effecl ihrouEh

Sepiember 4, 202û.

5. Any state-owned

properties thot lhe Office of Emergency

Services clelermines crre suiloble for use lo cssisl in preporing for.
responding to, miligotíng the effecls of, or recovering from

COVID"ì9 shc¡llbe mode ovqilable to tlre Office of Ëmergency
Services for this Í)urpose, notwilhstonciing cny slote or lccql low
llrqlwauid reslrict, delcy, or otherwise inhibit such use.

6.

Any foirgrouncls lhot ihe Office of Ernergency Servìces
eJetermines are suiloble lo ossist in prepcring for, responding to,
mitigoling the effocts of, or recovering from CüVID-19 sholl be
mode ovoilcble to the Offìce of Emergenr:y Services pursucni lo
'lhe Ëmergeirrcy Services Act, Goverrlrnenl Code section 8589.
The CIffice of ümergency Services shcll noiify tlre fairgrounds of
lhe intended use ond con immediotely use lhe fairgrounds
wTlhout the fcirground boord of direck:rs' opprovol, ond
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nolwilhslonding cny slole or locallow lhat would restricl, delay
or olherwise inhibif such use.

7.

The 30-doy tinre; period in Hecllth ond Safety Code seclion

lû1080, wilhin which o locql governing cruthorily musi renew o
local heolth emergency. is hereby waived for ihe durotion of this
stolewicje effìergency. Any such locol heollh emorgency will
remnin in effecl unlileoch locolgoverníng cuihoríly lerminoles
its

respeclìvç locci heolih emergency.

L

lhe ó0-day tirne period in Governmenl Code section 8ó3û, within
which loccl governmenl sulhorities musT rènew o locol
ernsrgency, is hereby woived for the c1urc¡tion oT lhis sloiewide
€msrüency. Any locol emergency proclcinred wìll remcin in
effecl until ecrr:h loccl governing authoriiy terminates its
respeciive loccl emergency.

9.

The Office of Ëmergency Services sholl provide ossistance to

loccl governmenÌs thot hove demonstrcled extruordinary or
disproporlionote inrpocts from CCIVID-'l9, if crppropriote and
necossüry. under the outhorily of lhe Ccllifornio Disclster
Â,ssìslnnce AcÌ, Gr:vernment Code s*ction Bó80 el seq.. ond
,l9,
Californio Codç of Regulolions, Tille
secfíon 2900 el seq.
I

û. To ensure hospitals cnd olher heallh focililie s are crble to
cde<¡uctely lreoi patients legally isolafed os o resull of COVID19, lhe Director of lhe Colífornio Deportment of Pr¡blic Heclth
moy woive cny of lhe licensing requiremenls of Chapter 2 of
Division 2 of lh* Heelth cncl Sofety CocJe cnd cccomponying
regulolions wilh respect fo ony hospital or heolfh facilily
idenlifiecj in Heollh ond Sofety Cocle section 1250. Any woiver
shnll include clfernofive rneosures lhot, untjer the¡ circumslonces,

wiil cllow lhe focilíiies lo freot legolly isololed pofitxls while
profecting public h<*ctlth and scfety. Any focililies l:eing grcnled
c wüiver shall Lre esicrblishecl ancl operoterl in occordc¡ice with
lhe fociliiy's required cjisostr:r cnd mc¡ss ccsuclly plnn. Any
wnívers granteel ¡:ursuonl to this pcrrogrcph slrull be posieci orr

the Depodrnent's websiie.
I

LIo support consisieni practices ccross Cr:lifornia, stote
cleporlmenls, in coordinotian with the Office of Emergency
Services, sholl provide updoled onc{specific guidonce reloling
lo preventing ond miligoiing CCVID-ì9 to schools, employers,
employees, firsl responders oncJ cornmunily ccre fc¡cililies by ncr
lcrler tlron Mcrch 1A,2t2A.

l2.To promptly responcl for the protection of puhlic hesllh. sTale
enlities ore, notwithslonding crny olher stale or loccl low,
outhcrized lo shore relevant medicclinformafion, limited io the
patienl's unrlerlying heollh conditions. qge, currenf condition,
cJote of exposl,re, and possíble conloci lrocing, cs necessory lo
nrjdress the effecf of the COVID-l? outbreok with slote,locol,
federol, ond nongovernmenlol parlners, wilh such informotion lo
Lre used fclr lhe limited purposes clf monitorinç¡, investigclion ond
contrcl" ond treoimeni and coorrjinoticn of ccrre. The
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notification requirement of Civíl Code secfion .l298.24,
subdivision {i),
13.

is

suspended.

Nolwilhslonding l-leollh ond Scfety Code sections tZ9Z.S2 ond
1797.218, during lhe course of this emergency, ony ËMT-p
licensees shclll hove ihe cuthorily lo tronspori potients to
medicol focílities other thon ocule core hospilols when
opproved by ìhe Californio EMS Aullrori'ty. ln order lo corry out
lhis order, 1o the exleni thot lhe provisions of Health ond Sofely
.l797.218
CocJe sections 179V.52 ond
moy prohibit EMT-P
licensees from lronsporling potients to focilities olher thon ccute
care hospiiols, those stotutes ore hereb¡, suspencled until the
ierminclion of this Slate of Emergency.

14.'lhe Deportment of Social Services moy, to lhe extenl the
Deporlmenl deems rìecessüry to responcl lo the threot of
COVID-'I9. wqive ony provisions of the Heollh cnd Sofety Code
or Welfore cnd lnslilulions Code, ond occornponying
regulotions, inlerim iicensing slondords, or olher wrillen policies
or procedures with respecl lo lhe use, licensing, or opprovcl of
fccilities or homes withín ihe Depcrtment's iurisdiclion set forth in
lhe Colifornio Conrmunity Core Fccílilies AcT {Heclth oncf Sofety
Code section ì 500 et seq.), the Cclifornio Child Doy Care
Fociìities Act {Heclth ond Sofely Code section 159ó.2û et seq.},
oncl fhe Çolifornio Residenfisl Care tocilities for the [lderly Âct
(tleolih ond Sofety Cocje section i 5ó9 ei seq.). Any wcivers
gronteil pursucnt lo lhis porogrcph shollbe posled on the

Deporlment's weh¡sile.
¡ ñURTHËR Þ|RËCT

thoÌ os soÕn os hereafler possible,

this

proclamcrtíon be filed in the Office of the Secrelury of Stale cnd.fhot

widespreod publicity and notice be given cl ihis proclomolion.

lN WITNESS WIIEREOT

lhove

hereunto se; my hqnd ancl coused
fhe Greol Seol of lhe Stote of
lo
sffixed this 4th doy
rch
of

N

or of Colífornia

ATTESIT

ALEX PADITLA

Secrelcry of Stote
..d,$ù,-
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SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
MEETING DATE: April 11, 2022
AGENDA ITEM 4.1
Capital Improvement Project Status Report
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
The current status of the capital projects approved by the Board for FY 2021-22 are listed below.
Other projects and issues affecting the Capital Improvement Program are also listed.
STAFF REPORT:
Updates to the project list and status of projects are shown in bold text.

A. Replacement Projects
These projects are funded from the Replacement Reserve Fund.
Cement Hill Water Treatment Plant (CHWTP) Projects
1. CHWTP New Entrance Project: Plans are being finalized and coordination with Fairfield has
taken place. Telstar is wrapping up the electrical design for the automatic entrance gates and
integration with the Fairfield traffic lights. Civil Plans for the project are with Fairfield’s
contractor for costing. A Joint Agreement for construction of this project by the City of
Fairfield’s selected contractor for the Manuel Campos Parkway with repayment by SSWA is
anticipated to be brought to the Board in 2022 when information has been brought
forward from the City and its developer.
2. Physical Security System Integration: The previously approved budget of $80,000 was
prepared to include work by outside consultants, installation of a new AT&T fiber optic
communication line, purchase of a router, and staff time. The AT&T fiber optic line has been
installed.
3. Filter Meter Replacement: Staff has been authorized to move forward with purchasing the 10
meters for the WTP’s pressure filters. Plant operations staff have received the 5 meters
serving one of the two plants and will install and program them prior to ordering the
remaining meters, so that one plant remains in service with functioning meters at all times.
Combined Distribution Facility Projects
Distribution System Projects
4. Sectionalizing Valve Replacement Project: Some valves needing replacement have been
identified and scheduling their replacement is in progress.
4.1 FY 2021-22 CIP Status Bd SR
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5. Crystal Middle School Offsite Pipeline Replacement Project: Design Agreement should be
executed soon. Staff requested an exemption for water/sewer separation requirements in one
street where it is impossible to meet the minimum requirements. However, the new
alignment has more separation than the existing water main. The Division of Drinking Water
granted SSWA an exemption from the State water main separation requirements. Staff is
reviewing improvement plans and will provide comments on said plans. Upon finalizing
plans and executing agreements, construction shall proceed.
6. Geographic Information System (GIS): We have received the GIS linework from the
consultant.

B. 2016 Bond Fund Projects
These projects are funded from the 2016 Bond Fund.
Water Loss Control Projects
6. Meter Replacement and AMI Implementation: This project is largely complete, pending
completion of project punch list items. About 300 meter endpoints have been replaced.
Another 240 endpoints are still not communicating correctly. The contractor and Badger
(the meter manufacturer) are working together to address this issue. The contractor and
Badger are actively replacing endpoints and expect to be completed within the next few
weeks. When this work is complete, staff will bring a Notice of Completion to the Board for
approval (May Board Meeting). Contractor retention will continue to be held until a Notice
of Completion is issued.

C. 2019 Bond Fund Projects
These projects are funded from the 2019 Bond Fund.
Cement Hill Facility Projects
7. Chemical System Replacement: This project is in progress. Submittals for material and shop
drawing approvals are being submitted by the contractor for review. Work on the new
polymer facility is largely complete. The polymer tanks, eight (8) polymer pumps, skids and
tubing to the pumps has been installed. Demolition of the old polymer tank facility is
complete. The concrete foundation for the new hypochlorite containment structure has
been poured. Installation of the concrete walls for the new hypochlorite facility is
underway. This project is anticipated to be substantially complete by late July with
final completion in early September.
8. Control System Reprogramming: This project will start soon once the new equipment at the
Cement Hill Tanks and New Cement Hill Pipeline has been integrated into the plant control
system. A site visit has been completed by Telstar to initiate this work.

4.1 FY 2021-22 CIP Status Bd SR
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Planning Projects
9. CIP Program Management Services: Program management has shifted from ongoing project
planning to completion of already-planned projects identified within the CIP.

D. New Capacity Fund Projects
These projects are funded from the Capacity Fund.
10. Walters Road Pipeline: The portion to construct under Highway 12 is on hold.
11. Water Master Plan Update: . Staff is combining the Water Master Plan update with the Asset
Management Plan. A draft RFP is currently in progress and will be brought to the Board
for approval.

E. Other Projects
The following items include potential and pending capital projects, and Authority non-capital
work (administrative, financial, operations and maintenance) affecting capital projects and
planning.
12. Corp Yard Tank Replacement/Railroad Avenue Facility: This facility is planned to be
decommissioned. The pumps have failed and staff is proposing not to replace them. In
addition, the tank’s lining has deteriorated and needs to be replaced. The tank has only been
used in the recent past when emergency storage was necessary (tank filled, then immediately
emptied after the short term need was gone).
RECOMMENDATION/REQUEST:
None; this is provided for the Board’s information.
ATTACHMENTS:
None.
STAFF RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORT:

Paul Fuchslin, SID Director of Engineering

4.1 FY 2021-22 CIP Status Bd SR
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SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
AGENDA TRANSMITTAL
MEETING DATE: April 11, 2022
AGENDA ITEM No. 4.2: Information Only: SSWA Financial Information Update
I.

Budget vs. Actual from July 1 to December 31, 2021 (unaudited)

STAFF REPORT:
Attached is the Exhibit A- Fund Detail Budget Report.
I. Budget vs. Actual for FY2021-22
•

Referring to page 1 of Exhibit A – For the first half of the fiscal year, in the operations
fund, the revenue and expenditures are within the budget. There is no proposed budget
amendment as of this time. Below is the summary of the first six months of the yearly
operations.

SSWA Operation Fund Financial Overview as of
December 31, 2021

Proposed
Budget
FY2021-22

Actual
Jul-Dec 21

% of Budget

Revenue
Water Sales
Other Revenue
Total Operating Revenue

6,428,160
461,988
6,890,148

3,314,269
201,722
3,515,991

52%
44%
51%

Expenditures

5,216,483

2,578,166

49%

Total

1,673,665

937,825

Operations Fund Overview:
• For first half of the fiscal year, July to December 2021, the water sales are at 52% of the
budget. As of this snapshot, the water sales are 2% higher than projected budget. It can be
related to implementation of the Automated Meter Infrastructure (AMI) “smart meters”.
The installation of the new smart meter is mostly complete except some pending punch list
items. The water rate increase will be reflected on the water bills starting January 2022.
• The expenditures are at 49% of the budget. Overall, the operating fund financial activities
are within the budget.

Page 1 of 2
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Capital Project Fund Overview:
•

Information on capital projects spending from July to December 2021 is found on page 2
through 4 of Exhibit A.
o Replacement Fund- budget of $2,659,269 with actual spending of only $3,860.
o 2019 Bond Proceeds- budget is $4,821,424 with actual spending of $1,286,632.
The major project, Chemical System Replacement, is under construction and
expected to be complete in August 2022.
o Capacity Fund- budget of $943,294 with actual spending of $99,132. The major
project is Walters Road Pipeline. The portion to construct under Highway 12 is on
hold.

ATTACHMENT:
1. SSWA Fund Detail Budget-Exhibit A

PREPARED BY:
REVIEWED BY:
APPROVED BY:

Elizabeth N. Luna, Accounting Services Manager, City of Suisun City
Lakhwinder Deol, Finance Director, City of Suisun City
Cary Keaten, SSWA Manager

Page 2 of 2
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Suisun‐Solano Water Authority
Fund Detail Budget
Exhibit A
FY20-21
Actual

Page 1 of 3

FY21-22
Adopted
Budget

FY21-22
Actual
July-Dec 2021

FY21-22
Projection

OPERATIONS FUND
Beginning Balance
Revenues

$

1,397,045 $

1,473,000 $

1,776,929 $

1,776,929

Water Rate Revenue
Interest Income
Other Water Sales
Water Meter Installations
Other Water Dept Receipts
FSSD Sewer Billing Fees
Suisun Valley Maintenance Fees
Plan Check Fees
Engineering Fees
Misc. Income

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

6,462,787
(7,719)
70,717
4,385
237,252
145,704
30,280
2,014
17,375
10,610

6,428,160
3,000
30,000
55,188
198,000
140,000
30,800
5,000
‐
‐

3,314,269
‐
10,242
3,723
97,324
73,849
15,073
1,511
‐
‐

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

6,428,160
3,000
30,000
55,188
198,000
140,000
30,800
5,000
‐
‐

Total Operating Revenue
Expenditures

$

6,973,405 $

6,890,148 $

3,515,991 $

6,890,148

$
$

874,032 $
19,417 $

1,079,300 $
30,000 $

481,090 $
20,708 $

1,079,300
30,000

$

893,449 $

1,109,300 $

501,798 $

1,109,300

$
$
$
$
$
$

12,200
891
16,261
39,336
67,366
350,628

$

486,682 $

$
$

Customer Accounts
JPA Services ‐ Suisun City
Bad Debt Expense
Total Customer Accts.
Administration
Board Services & Supplies
Admin-Solano Wtr. Auth./Water Foundation

Contract Serv. (Fin. Plan/Water Rate/ legal)
Legal Expenses
Urban Water Mgmt Plan‐Maddaus
Infrastructure Acquisition/Access Lease

Total Admin. Expend.
Water Conservation
JPA Services ‐ SID+printing & postage
JPA Services - SID-Water Educ Prog
JPA Services - SID-Contigency

Total Water Conservation
Suisun Valley Water System
JPA Services ‐ SID
Total Suisun Wtr. System
General Operations
ACWA Membership
ACWA Insurance Coverage
JPA Services - SID Admin & Eng'g

Bldg/Equip Lease
Total General Operations

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

15,600
8,000
10,000
40,000
16,900
350,624

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

5,800
‐
4,961
16,310
‐
175,314

$
$
$
$
$
$

15,600
8,000
10,000
40,000
16,900
350,624

441,124 $

202,385 $

441,124

9,030 $
4,639 $

20,000 $
5,000 $

13,388 $
5,197 $

20,000
5,000

$

13,669 $

25,000 $

18,585 $

25,000

$
$

84,004 $
84,004 $

110,141 $
110,141 $

49,401 $
49,401 $

110,141
110,141

$
$
$
$
$

14,885
2,183
1,241,909
5,000
1,263,977

$
$
$
$
$

18,000
13,000
1,499,242
5,000
1,535,242

$
$
$
$
$

16,190
2,633
754,688
5,000
778,511

$
$
$
$
$

18,000
13,000
1,499,242
5,000
1,535,242

$
$
$
$

386,569
99,228
11,026
496,822

$
$
$
$

466,076
102,403
18,562
587,041

$
$
$
$

236,184
35,463
‐
271,647

$
$
$
$

466,076
102,403
18,562
587,041

733,339 $
22,500 $
755,839 $

1,374,135
34,500
1,408,635

Maintenance & Repair

JPA Services ‐ SID
Contract Serv. City Street Patching
Encroachment Fees
Total General Maintenance
CHWTP & GHWTP Facilities
JPA Services ‐ SID
Water Purchases
Total CHWTP/GHWTP Expend.
Total Expenditures

Transfers
Transfer to Debt Service Fund
Transfer to Rate Stabilization Fund
Transfer to Replac. Reserve
Total Transfers
Total Use of Funds
Ending Balance
Operating Reserve (25% of O&M)
Uncommitted Balance
2016 & 2019/2021 Bond (1.20X Requirement)

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$

1,295,904 $
34,500 $
1,330,404 $
4,569,008

1,024,513
‐
1,000,000
2,024,513

$

$
$
$
$

6,593,520 $
1,776,929

$

1,398,000 $
378,929 $
2.36

G:\SSWA\Budgets\2021‐22 Budget\SSWA Budget FY21‐22 Proposed‐Final with FY 21 Actual .xlsx3/29/2022

1,374,135 $
34,500 $
1,408,635 $
5,216,483

937,961
‐
669,704
1,607,665

$

$
$
$
$

6,824,148 $
1,539,000

$

1,539,000 $
‐
$
1.84

2,578,166

653,463
‐
‐
653,463

$

$
$
$
$

3,231,629 $
2,061,291

$

808,000 $
1,253,291 $
1.44

5,216,483

937,961
‐
669,704
1,607,665
6,824,148
1,842,929

1,539,000
303,929
1.84
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Suisun‐Solano Water Authority
Fund Detail Budget
Exhibit A
FY20-21
Actual
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FY21-22
Adopted
Budget

FY21-22
Actual
July-Dec 2021

FY21-22
Projection

DEBT SERVICE FUND
Beginning Balance
Revenues

Transfer In from Operations
Investment Income with Fiscal Agent
Total Revenues
Expenditures

Bond Trustee Fees (2700 each bond series)
Prof Serv‐ Continuing Disclosure Report (2,000 ea)
Prof Serv‐ Arbitrage Report‐ Bonds (2,000 ea)
Principal ‐ 2021 & 2019 Bonds (245,000+165,000)
Interest ‐ 2021 & 2019 Bonds(190,473+324,088)
Transfer to Operations Fund
Total Expenditures
Ending Balance

$

‐

$
$

1,024,513 $
‐

937,961 $

653,463 $

937,961

$

1,024,513 $

937,961 $

653,463 $

937,961

$
$
$
$

5,400 $
3,750 $
$
300,000 $
715,363 $

5,400
4,000
4,000
410,000
514,561

2,700
‐
‐
410,000
240,763

$
$
$
$
$

5,400
4,000
4,000
410,000
514,561

$

1,024,513 $

653,463 $

937,961

$

-

$

$

‐

$

$
$
$
$
$

937,961 $
-

$

‐

-

$

$

‐

-

REPLACEMENT RESERVE
Beginning Balance
Revenues

Interest Income

$

4,020,329 $

4,141,239 $

3,939,883 $

3,939,883

$

4,025 $

20,706 $

‐

$

19,699

$

1,000,000 $

669,704 $

‐

$

669,704

$

1,004,025 $

690,410 $

‐

$

689,403

$

97,866
145,508 $

624,000 $

3,705 $

624,000

15,672 $
6,550 $

82,986
195,000 $

‐

$
$

82,986
195,000

$
$
$

73,815 $
189,571 $
182,008

‐
$
155 $
$

73,815
189,571
182,008

$
$
$
$

100,000
25,000
700,000
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

100,000
25,000
700,000
‐

Transfer -In from Capacity Fund
Transfer -In from Operations Fund Reserve Excess

Total Revenues
Expenditures

Equipment Replacement/Addition‐CHWTP

CHWTP New Entrance
$
Settled Water Storage Tanks 1&3 Rehab
Plant 1 Filter Piping Rehab
SCADA Integration Corp Yard Tank & Booster
Sectionalizing Valve Replacement
$
Large Meter Replacement
$
Railroad Ave MS and PRS Rehab
Electrical Distribution Equip Rehab
Plant 1 Clarifier Coating Repairs
WLCP DMA Implementation Project
$
CHWTP Pump 1&6 Rehab
Walmart PRS Integration
Clarifier 2&3 Drive Replacement
Pump Control Programming-CHWTP
Telephone System Replacement
Perimeter Sensor System Upgrade
SV Pipeline Replacement & Relocation
Prof Services-Map Railroad Ave Facility Parcel
Raw Water Screen Drainage System
New Utility Billing/Accounting Program
Vault Lid Replacement Design/Construction
$
Transfer Out to Capacity Fund-Walters Rd Pipeline
Security System Upgrade & Integration
$
GIS-Geographic Information System
$
CHWTP Metering Replacement
$
Civic Center Blvd. Waterline Project-Design/Bidd $
CHWTP Condition Assessment
$
Maintenance Management System(software)
$
Filter Meter Replacement
$
Crystal Middle School offsite Pipeline Replacement

523

326,208
‐
173,936
17,992
300,217
‐
‐
‐

Transfer to Capacity Funds to cover shortage
Total Expenditures
Ending Balance

$
$

1,084,471 $
3,939,883

$
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$
$
$
$

2,172,380 $
2,659,269

$

$
$
$
$

3,860 $
3,936,023

$

2,172,380
2,456,906
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Suisun‐Solano Water Authority
Fund Detail Budget
Exhibit A
FY20-21
Actual

Page 3 of 3

FY21-22
Adopted
Budget

FY21-22
Actual
July-Dec 2021

FY21-22
Projection

2019 BOND PROCEEDS
Beginning Balance
Revenues

$

6,262,750 $

6,196,469 $

Interest Income

$

10,292 $

30,982 $

‐

$

29,592

Bond Proceeds (Net of Issuance Cost)
Total Revenues

$

10,292 $

30,982 $

‐

$

29,592

Transfer out to 2016 Bond Fund Projects
New Cement Hill Pipeline
System Reprograming-New CH Facilitiy
Cement Hill Tank 2A Rehab- consulting
Chemical System rehab Construction
CIP Program Management Services
CIP Program Mgmt-Cost Distribution to CIP

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

11,494
40,676
23,576 $
1,060
277,862 $
158,650
(158,650)

76,424 $

‐

$

76,424

4,745,000 $

1,286,632 $

4,745,000

$
$

354,668 $
5,918,374 $

4,821,424 $
1,406,027 $

1,286,632 $
4,631,742 $

4,821,424
1,126,542

$

859,793 $

887,732 $

895,688 $

895,688

$

(278) $

4,400 $

$

54,766 $

$

54,488 $

$
$

887
‐
$

150,000 $

$

17,706 $

793,294 $

Total Expenditures
Ending Balance

5,918,374 $

5,918,374

CAPACITY FUND
Beginning Balance
Revenues

Interest Income

‐

$

4,400

1,426,368 $

97,369 $

1,426,368

1,430,768 $

97,369 $

1,430,768

From Replacement Fund- CIP share

Development Impact Fees
Total Revenues
Expenditures

2 MG Water Tank @ CHWTP Tank 2B
Update Water Master Plan
Capacity Fee Update Study
New Gregory Hill WTP Design (85%)
New Gregory Hill WTP Construction (85%)
Water Treatment Option Study
System Design Review
Capacity Study
Walters Road Pipe

‐

$

150,000

99,132 $

793,294

Walmart PRS Integration
Transfer Out to Capacity Fund
Total Expenditures
Ending Balance

$
$

18,593 $
895,688

$

943,294 $
1,375,206

$

99,132 $
893,925

$

943,294
1,383,162

Rate Stabilization Fund
Beginning Balance
Revenues

$

300,000 $

303,000 $

304,591 $

304,591

Interest Income

$

4,591 $

1,515 $

1,523 $

1,523

Transfer -In from Operation Fund
Total Revenues

$

4,591 $

1,515 $

1,523 $

1,523

$
$

‐
$
304,591 $

‐
$
304,515 $

‐
$
306,114 $

‐
306,114

Transfer back to Operation Fund
Total Expenditures
Ending Balance

G:\SSWA\Budgets\2021‐22 Budget\SSWA Budget FY21‐22 Proposed‐Final with FY 21 Actual .xlsx3/29/2022
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Agenda Item 5.1

SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
BOARD MEETING

MINUTES

Monday, December 13, 2021
6:00 p.m.

This meeting is compliant with local and state orders, and the Governor’s Executive Order N-08-21, issued
on June 11, 2021, which allows for a deviation of teleconference rules required by the Brown Act. The
purpose of this is to provide a safe environment for staff and the public to conduct SSWA business, while
allowing for public participation. The meeting will be held by Zoom teleconference only. The public may
participate by https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83952521069 Meeting ID: 839 5252 1069 One tap mobile
+16699009128, 83952521069#

Members Present: ALL PARTICIPATION VIA ZOOM
City of Suisun City Councilmembers: Lori Wilson, Wanda Williams, Alma Hernandez, Mike
Hudson.
Solano Irrigation District Directors: Pete Sanchez, Derrick Lum, Charles Herich, Mike
Barrett.
Staff: Cary Keaten, SSWA Manager/SID General Manager; Mona Ebrahimi, SSWA Legal
Counsel; Greg Folsom, Suisun City Manager; Matt Hobbs, SID Water & Power Operations
Manager; Nouae Vue, Suisun Public Works Director; Lakhwinder Deol, City of Suisun Director
of Finance; City of Suisun Director of Finance; Beth Luna and Natasha Ackley, SID Executive
Assistant.
Absent: John Kluge and Jane Day
1.

Preliminary
1.1.

Call Meeting to Order

Vice President Wilson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.
1.2.

Roll Call

1.3.

Continuation of Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to the Brown Act,
Government Code section 54953(e), as Amended By Assembly Bill (AB) 361:
Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 21-18 Re-Ratifying The Proclamation
Of A State Of Emergency By Governor’s Order Dated March 4, 2020 And
Re-Authorizing Remote Teleconference Meetings Of The Legislative Bodies
Of Suisun/Solano Water Authority Pursuant To Brown Act Provisions.

Upon motion by Board member Lum and seconded by Board member Herich the Board
voted to Adopt Resolution No. 21-18 Re-Ratifying The Proclamation Of A State Of
Emergency By Governor’s Order Dated March 4, 2020 And Re-Authorizing Remote
Teleconference Meetings Of The Legislative Bodies Of Suisun/Solano Water Authority
Pursuant To Brown Act Provisions.
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Ayes: Lum, Barrett, Hernandez, Sanchez, Williams, Hudson, Herich, Wilson
Noes: None
Abstain: None
Absent: Kluge, Day
Motion passed.
1.4.

Approval of Agenda

Upon motion by Board member Williams and seconded by Board member Sanchez, the
Board approved the agenda as presented.
Ayes: Lum, Barrett, Hernandez, Sanchez, Williams, Hudson, Herich, Wilson
Noes: None
Abstain: None
Absent: Kluge, Day
Motion passed.
1.5.

Pledge of Allegiance

The pledge was led by Board member Sanchez.
1.6. Conflict of Interest Notification (Any Agenda items that might be a conflict of interest
to any Boardmembers should be identified at this time by the Boardmember involved)
No Conflict-of-Interest Notifications.
2.

Presentations
There were no presentations scheduled for this meeting.

3.

Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items)
There were no comments from the public.

4. Informational Items
4.1. Capital Improvement Project Status Report.
4.2. 2020 Water Loss Audit and Historical Summary.
Staff answered questions from the Board.
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Agenda Item 5.1
5. Consent Calendar
5.1. Approval of the Minutes of the November 8, 2021, Board Meeting.
Upon motion by Board member Herich and seconded by Board member Hernandez, the
Board voted to approve the Consent Calendar as presented.
Ayes: Lum, Barrett, Hernandez, Sanchez, Williams, Hudson, Herich, Wilson
Noes: None
Abstain: None
Absent: Kluge, Day
Motion passed.
6. Scheduled Items
6.1. Adopt Resolution No. 21-19 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a
Joint Community Facilities Agreement (JCFA) in Connection with the Bond
Opportunities for Land Development (BOLD) Program for an Infill Project at
The Old Crystal Middle School Site.
SSWA Legal Counsel Mona Ebrahimi opened this item and summarized the staff report.
Staff and Legal Counsel answered questions from the Board.
Upon motion by Board member Williams and seconded by Board member Lum, the Board
voted to Adopt Resolution No. 21-19 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Joint
Community Facilities Agreement (JCFA) in Connection with the Bond Opportunities for
Land Development (BOLD) Program for an Infill Project at The Old Crystal Middle School
Site.
7. Board Comments
Board members wished everyone a Merry Christmas, Happy Holidays and Happy New
Year.
8. Staff Comments
There were no comments from the Staff.
9. Adjourn
Meeting adjourned at 6:17 p.m.
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SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
EXECUTIVE MEETING
AGENDA TRANSMITTAL
MEETING DATE: April 11, 2022
AGENDA ITEM No. 6.1: Acceptance of the SSWA Financial Statements and Independent
Auditor’s Report for June 30, 2021.
STAFF REPORT: Chavan & Associates, LLP (C&A), an independent auditor firm, has completed
its fieldwork and provided the Authority with necessary general ledger adjustments to receive a clean
audit report.
The table below summarizes the Authority’s changes in net position for the year. Details are shown
on page 14 of the financial statement.
Statement of Changes in Net Position

Increase
(Decrease)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
2020

Revenues
Operating revenues
Nonoperating revenues
Total revenues

$

6,981,125
14,818
6,995,943

$

6,831,738
309,903
7,141,641

$

Percent
Increase
(Decrease)

149,387
(295,085)
(145,698)

2.2%
-95.2%
-2.0%

Expenses
Operating expenses
Nonoperating expenses
Total expenses

6,265,461
743,729
7,009,190

5,835,630
674,118
6,509,748

429,831
69,611
499,442

7.4%
10.3%
7.7%

(13,247)

631,893

(645,140)

-102.1%

Capital contributions
Water capacity revenues

54,766

29,831

24,935

83.6%

Change in net position

41,519

661,724

(620,205)

-93.7%

27,197,112

26,535,388

Income before capital contributions

Net position - beginning of period
Net position - end of period

$

27,238,631

$

27,197,112

$

661,724

2.5%

41,519

0.2%

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position reflects the Authority’s
operating and non-operating revenues and expenses. Total revenues decreased and total expenses
increased over prior year because of the following:
PREPARED BY:
APPROVED BY:
REVIEWED BY:

Elizabeth N. Luna, Accounting Services Manager, City of Suisun City
Lakhwinder Deol, Finance Director, City of Suisun City
Cary Keaten, SSWA Manager
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•
•
•
•
•

Operating revenues increased by $149,387, or 2.2%. The modest increase can be attributed to
water sales increase brought by a slight higher consumption during fiscal year 2020-21.
Nonoperating revenues decreased by $295,085, or 95.2%. This was mainly the result of a
decrease in fair market value of pooled investments. It is an adjustment from prior market
value increase recorded in the past years.
Operating expenses increased by $429,831 or 7.4%. This was mainly related to increases in
depreciation and amortization expense.
Nonoperating expenses increased by $69,611 or 10.3%, mostly due to bond issuance cost
related to the water revenue bonds, series 2021.
Capital contributions increased by $24,935 or 83.6%, over last year, due to increase in water
capacity (connection) fees.

Overall, the fund balance as of June 30, 2021 are as follows:
Operating Funds
Rate Stabilization Fund
Operating Capital (Replacement Reserve)
Total Operations

$1,546,750
$ 304,591
$3,939,883
$5,791,224

Capacity Fund

$ 895,688

Expansion (Bond Proceeds & Debt Service)

$5,770,711

Source: page 29 of the Audited Financial Report

Highlights of the report:
•

The Authority posted a positive change in net position of $41,519 from prior year despite
the absence of a water rate increase. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes
in Net Position can be found on page 14 of the attached audited financial report.

•

The Authority posted a total net position of $27,238,631. The Statement of Net Position can
be found on page 13 of the attached audited financial report.

Any additional information regarding the audit report is available upon request at the Finance
Department of the City of Suisun City.
RECOMMENDATION: The Staff recommends the Board to pass Resolution No. 22-02 accepting
the Financial Statements with Independent Auditor’s Report for fiscal year 2020-21.
______________________________________________________________________________
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Financial Statements with Independent Auditor’s Report June 30, 2021 and 2020.
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1

SUISUN-SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
RESOLUTION NO. 22-02

3

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SUISUN SOLANO
WATER AUTHORITYACCEPTING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-21.

2
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

WHEREAS, the Suisun Solano Water Authority endeavors to manage its financial
affairs in a prudent and professional manner, consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles; and
WHEREAS, an annual audit conducted by an independent auditors is an essential
method to ensure we meet this goal of fiscal prudence; and
WHEREAS, the independent auditor’s firm of Chavan & Associates, LLP (C&A)
conducted the audit and concluded that the Authority’s financial statements “present fairly in all
material respects, the respective financial position of business-type activities of the Suisun
Solano Water Authority as of June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position
and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the Unites States of America”; and
WHEREAS, the Suisun Solano Water Authority’s Financial Statements and
Independent Auditor’s Report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, was presented to the
Board of Directors for its review and consideration.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Suisun Solano Water Authority
hereby accept the Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2021.
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of April 2022 at Suisun City, California, the
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following directors voting thereon:
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AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

25
27
28

__
__
__
________________________________________
John D. Kluge, President of the Board of Directors of
Suisun Solano Water Authority

29

1
2
3

ATTEST:
______________________________________
Cary Keaten, Secretary to the Board of Directors of the Suisun Solano Water Authority

4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
Resolution No. 2022-02
Adopted April 11, 2022
Page 2 of 2
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SUISUN/SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
(JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020
*

*

*

Chavan & Associates, LLP
Certified Public Accountants
15105 Concord Circle, Ste. 130
Morgan Hill, CA 95037
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Directors
of the Suisun/Solano Water Authority
City of Suisun City, California
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the
Suisun/Solano Water Authority (the “Authority"), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2021,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Authority’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Authority’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

15105 Concord Circle, Ste. 130, Morgan Hill, CA 95037
Tel: 408-217-8749 • E-Fax: 408-872-4159
info@cnallp.com • www.cnallp.com
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Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of business-type activities of the Suisun/Solano Water Authority,
as of June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for
the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Supplemental Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial statements. The combining program
statement of net position and the combining statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position by program, as listed in the table of contents, are presented for the purpose of additional
analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The combining program statement of net position and the combining statement of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position by program are the responsibility of management and were
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion the combining program statement of net
position and the combining statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position by
program are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a
whole.
15105 Concord Circle, Ste. 130, Morgan Hill, CA 95037
Tel: 408-217-8749 • E-Fax: 408-872-4159
info@cnallp.com • www.cnallp.com
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Prior-Year Comparative Information
We have previously audited the Authority's fiscal year June 30, 2020 financial statements, and we
expressed an unmodified audit opinion on the respective financial statements in our report dated
February 23, 2021. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited
financial statements from which it has been derived.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March
5, 2022, on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

March 5, 2022
Morgan Hill, California

15105 Concord Circle, Ste. 130, Morgan Hill, CA 95037
Tel: 408-217-8749 • E-Fax: 408-872-4159
info@cnallp.com • www.cnallp.com
Page 3

35

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Page 4
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Suisun/Solano Water Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2021
This section of the Authority's financial report presents management's discussion and analysis of the
Authority's financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. It is intended to serve
as an overview to the Authority’s required financial statements. Please read it in conjunction with
Authority's financial statements and accompanying notes, which follow this section.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
The Authority's FY 2020-21 financial highlights are listed below and the changes indicated are in
relation to the FY 2019-20 audited financial statements. These results are also discussed in more
detail later in the report.
•

The total ending Net Position increased by $41,519 from prior year mostly due to an increase
in operating revenues and water capacity fees.

•

Total revenues decreased by $145,698 from prior year because of a decrease in interest
income which was caused by declines in the fair value of pooled cash and mutual funds.

•

Total expenses increased by $499,442 from prior year mainly related to an increase in
depreciation expense and bond issuance costs.

•

Long-term liabilities decreased by $283,994 mostly because of annual principal payments of
water revenue bonds, series 2016 and series 2019.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This annual report includes the Management's discussion and analysis report, the independent
auditor’s report and the basic financial statements of the Authority. The financial statements also
include notes that explain the information in the financial statements in more detail.
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Financial Statements of the Authority report information about the Authority’s accounting
methods similar to those used by private sector companies. These statements offer short-term and
long-term financial information about its activities. The Statement of Fund Net Position includes all
of the Authority’s assets and liabilities and provides information about the nature and amounts of
investments in resources (assets) and obligations to creditors (liabilities).
All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position. This statement reflects the result of the Authority’s
operations over the past year as well as non-operating revenues and expenses.
The final required Financial Statement is the Statement of Cash Flows. The primary purpose of this
statement is to provide information about the Authority’s cash receipts and cash payments during the
reporting period. The statement reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash
resulting from operational, capital and investing activities. It also provides answers to questions such
as where did cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in cash balance
during the reporting period.

Page 5
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Suisun/Solano Water Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2021
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE AUTHORITY
One of the most important questions asked about the Authority’s finances is “Is the Authority better
off or worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” The Statement of Fund Net Position and the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position report information about the
Authority’s activities in a way that will help answer this question. These two statements report the
net position of the Authority and changes in them. The difference between assets, deferred outflows
of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources (net position) is one way to measure
financial health or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Authority’s net position
are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. However, you will
need to consider other non-financial factors such as changes in economic conditions, population
growth, and new or changed government legislation.
NET POSITION
A summary of the Authority’s Statement of Net Position is presented in Table 1.
Table 1 - Summary of Net Position
Increase
(Decrease)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
2020

Assets
Current and Other Assets
Capital assets
Total assets

$ 13,951,977
32,613,714
$ 46,565,691

$ 13,989,211
32,839,382
$ 46,828,593

$

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

$ 1,669,071
17,657,989
$ 19,327,060

$ 1,689,498
17,941,983
$ 19,631,481

$

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

$ 19,754,883
1,656,629
5,827,119
$ 27,238,631

$ 21,376,999
859,793
4,960,320
$ 27,197,112

$

Percent
Increase
(Decrease)

(37,234)
(225,668)
(262,902)

-0.3%
-0.7%
-0.6%

(20,427)
(283,994)
(304,421)

-1.2%
-1.6%
-1.6%

(1,622,116)
796,836
866,799
$
41,519

-7.6%
92.7%
17.5%
0.2%

$

$

As of June 30, 2021, the largest portion of the Authority's total net position was the net investment in
capital assets, which decreased by $1,622,116 mostly because of current year depreciation expense.
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Suisun/Solano Water Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2021
Table 2 below summarizes the Authority’s changes in net position for the year.
Table 2 - Statement of Changes in Net Position

Revenues
Operating revenues
Nonoperating revenues
Total revenues
Expenses
Operating expenses
Nonoperating expenses
Total expenses
Income before capital contributions
Capital contributions
Water capacity fees
Change in net position
Net position - beginning of period
Net position - end of period

Increase
(Decrease)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
2020
$ 6,981,125
14,818
6,995,943

$ 6,831,738
309,903
7,141,641

6,265,461
743,729
7,009,190

5,835,630
674,118
6,509,748

$

Percent
Increase
(Decrease)

149,387
(295,085)
(145,698)

2.2%
-95.2%
-2.0%

429,831
69,611
499,442

7.4%
10.3%
7.7%

(13,247)

631,893

(645,140)

54,766

29,831

24,935

83.6%

41,519
27,197,112
$ 27,238,631

661,724
26,535,388
$ 27,197,112

(620,205)
661,724
41,519

-93.7%
2.5%
0.2%

$

-102.1%

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position reflects the Authority's
operating and non-operating revenues and expenses. Total revenues increased and total expenses
decreased over prior year because of the following:

•

Total operating revenues increased by $149,387, or 2.2%. This was mainly the result of an
increase in water sales.

•

Total nonoperating revenues decreased by $295,085, or 95.2%. This was mainly the result of
a decrease in interest income which was caused by declines in the fair value of pooled cash
and mutual funds.

•

Total operating expenses increased by $429,831, or 7.4%. This was mainly related to
increases in depreciation and amortization expense.

•

Nonoperating expenses increased by $69,611, or 10.3%, mostly because of bond issuance
cost related to the water revenue bonds, series 2021.
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Suisun/Solano Water Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2021
CAPITAL ASSETS
The Authority’s investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2021 amounts to approximately
$32,613,714, net of accumulated depreciation, which was a decrease of $225,668. The investment in
capital assets includes construction in progress, pipeline improvements and equipment, including
water treatment facilities and connections. There was a total of $1,356,107 in asset additions and
$1,581,775 recorded as depreciation expense. For additional details regarding capital assets, please
refer to Note 3 in the notes to the basic financial statements.
Table 3 shows a summary of capital assets owned by the Authority as of June 30, 2021.
Table 3 - Summary of Capital Assets

Land and improvements
Construction in progress
Water Facilities
Computer equipment
Less - accumulated depreciation
Capital Assets - Net

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
2020
$
87,324
$
87,324
1,069,078
714,587
58,945,636
58,117,955
230,382
56,447
(27,718,706) (26,136,931)
$ 32,613,714
$ 32,839,382

$

$

Increase
(Decrease)

354,491
827,681
173,935
(1,581,775)
(225,668)

Percent
Increase
(Decrease)
0.0%
49.6%
1.4%
308.1%
-6.1%
-0.7%

RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS
The Indenture of Trust of the 2019 and 2021 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds requires that certain
moneys be held in restricted accounts for debt service. These moneys are presented as restricted
investments on the Statement of Net Position.
DEBT ADMINISTRATION
As of June 30, 2021, the Authority has outstanding revenue bond debt of $17,720,000 and a related
unamortized premium of $347,989. The Series 2019 bonds were assigned a rating of “AA-” from
Standard and Poor’s Corporation, which demonstrates that the Authority has a very strong capacity to
meet its financial obligations. For additional details regarding long-term debt, please refer to Note 4
in the notes to the basic financial statements.
FACTORS BEARING ON THE AUTHORITY’S FUTURE
Fiscal year 2019-20 was the last year of the five-year rate increases adopted in April of 2015. In
March 2019, the Suisun-Solano Water Authority (SSWA) Board retained NBS to conduct a
comprehensive water rate study update. While the Authority had several objectives to address in the
study, the main objective was ensuring adequate funding for operating and capital costs. Other
objectives include maintaining adequate reserves, revenue stability in water rates, and complying
with certain legal standards (such as California Constitution article XIII D, Section 6, which is
commonly referred to as Proposition 218 [Prop 218]).
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On October 12, 2021, the Board adopt a Resolution for water rate increases for the three years ending
June 30, 2024. The annual water revenue increases in the July 2021 updated Water Rate Study (the
2021 Study), of 3%, 4% and 5% are the total water revenue increases required, and not simply the
percentage increased in customer water rates. Once the total annual water sales revenues were
determined, the individual fixed and commodity (or actual water used charges) are computed to
produce the required total water rate revenues necessary to achieve the 3%, 4% and 5% total water
revenue increases. The rate increase is effective November 16, 2021 and will be increased annually
on July 1, 2022 and July 1, 2023.
On March 8, 2021, the Board adopt a Resolution Authorizing the issuance and Sale of Water
Revenue Refunding Bonds. The 2016 Bonds have an optional redemption date on September 1,
2025, allowing SSWA to redeem the outstanding 2016 no earlier than such date without a penalty.
Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Inc. (underwriter), estimates current market interest rates can allow
SSWA to refinance the 2016 Bonds with a taxable advance refunding structure given currently
historically low interest in the municipal bond market. The proceeds of the 2021 Bonds will be
deposited into an escrow account and used to make principal and interest payments through
September 1, 2025 and the final payment of the outstanding principal on such date. The Refinancing
will save SSWA customers approximately $506,000 over the 25 years, or about 20,000 annually.
The adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 includes a modest overall increase of a 4.7% in
operating expenditures. The minimal increase in expenditures is expected to be offset by the water
rate increase. The budget anticipated sufficient revenue to cover the operating costs and the debt
service. The Authority projected to sustain the operating costs as well as keeping the operating
reserve at 25% level.
In the FY2021-22 budget, the Authority maintains $300,000 in Stabilization Fund established in
2020. This fund can be used for mitigating losses of revenue due to non-payment of bills during the
pandemic. It can also be used to help smooth the rate increases in the coming years.
The Authority continues to fund capital projects approved by the Authority using the 2019 Bonds and
Replacement Funds. The fiscal year 2021-22 budget includes the following major projects:
•
•

Cement Hill Water Treatment Plant Chemical System Rehabilitation with an estimated
cost of $5.1 million is in the rebidding process funded from the 2019 Bond proceeds.
Walters Rd PRS Integration, estimated cost of 793,000 funded by Capacity Fund.

The Water Meter Replacement and Advance Metering Infrastructure (AMI) project began in May
2019. The project is largely complete, pending completion of project punch list items. The project
cost is close to $4.4 million, funded by 2016 Water Revenue Bonds. AMI is a system of datatransmitting meters and software that allows utilities to automate the meter reading process, provide
better customer service and greater data accuracy. The system comes with a customer portal called
Eye on Water. The portal will allow the customers to view data usage on their computer or smart
phone. The portal can provide daily water usage down to 15-minute intervals, compare current and
previous usage, and detect leaks. Suisun water customers are the first ones to have a water smart
meter in Solano County. It can be said that this is one of the many ways to modernize the water
service.
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The Authority approved a Water Master Plan update that will cost $150,000 funded by Capacity
Fund. This development changes the order of action in terms of updating the New Capacity Study
and the Capacity Charge (water connection fee). The Water Plan Master update is a vital information
needed in the calculation of water demand in the SSWA system and evaluate alternatives for
providing the supply and treatment capacities required to meet future demand. In addition, the plan
will have the information essential to determine capacity fee for future facilities to be built to meet
future demands. Once the Water Master Plan Update is completed, then the Authority will proceed
with the Capacity Study and Capacity Fee Update. Staff is considering combining the Water Master
Plan update with the Asset Management Plan.
In April of 2020, due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Governor of California issued an executive
order placing a moratorium on water shutoffs. To comply with the order, the Authority suspended
water shutoffs for non-payment up to this time. It has resulted in a drastic increase of delinquent
accounts from $25,000 to $200,000 as of December 2021.
The COVID-19 pandemic has made it difficult for many Californians to pay their water bills due to
unemployment and other hardships. The State Legislature allocated $985 million in federal funding
to create a new program through the State Water Board to provide relief to the community water and
waste water systems for delinquent bills. The Program is called California Water and Wastewater
Arrearage Payment Program. The funding is coming from the America Recovery Plan Act (ARPA).
The grant will cover water delinquent bills from residential and commercial customers that accrued
between March 4, 2020 and June 15, 2021. The Authority applied for the program and received
$125,788. The program will provide water bill credit to approximately 300 residential customers.
According to California Governor Newsom, the State would soon enter a new phase of its response
to the coronavirus pandemic, one which the state shifted its perspective to how to deal with an
endemic disease that will likely be a regular part of our lives. However, this does not mean that the
fight is over. The state of emergency still in place that began nearly two years ago.
According to California Forecast, the progress of recovery from the pandemic recession has recently
been both fragile and slow. Rising tension about the stock market and inflation are contributing to
this fragility. Labor availability issues remain through December 2021. California is still 400,000
workers short of the labor force peak that prevailed before the pandemic. This is one of the most
abnormal issues in California that remains seriously problematic to the restoration of the workforce
and delivery of normal services to consumers, especially leisure and food services. The vaccine
mandates may certainly be contributing to the drag on the labor force recovery.
While growth is forecast to remain above trend, the real challenge for 2022 is getting inflation down.
Inflation has a vital role in the price increase of materials, labor, and machinery which results in the
volatility of construction costs. This will have a fiscal impact in the capital project spending of the
Authority.
In local growth, a number of developments are in various stages of planning and construction. There
are two Apartment projects consisting of 180 and 160 multi-family units and a 71-unit single-family
residential project that are currently in construction or will be breaking ground soon. Development
applications have also been submitted to develop two high-cube industrial logistics project on vacant
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property within the City’s Sphere of Influence. All these new developments are expected to generate
water capacity revenues and increase water accounts in the near future.
CONTACTING THE AUTHORITY
This report is intended to provide the Authority’s constituents with a general overview of the
Authority’s finances and operations. If you have any questions about this report or need additional
information, you may submit a request in writing to:
Suisun-Solano Water Authority
Accounting Department
701 Civic Center Blvd.
Suisun City, CA 94585
Phone: 707-421-7320
Fax: 707-421-7364
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SUISUN/SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
(A JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY)
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals as of June 30, 2020)
2021
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and investments
Accounts receivable
Unbilled receivables
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets
Capital assets:
Land
Construction in progress
Water facilities
Office equipment
Accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, net
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value
Total restricted assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Interest Payable
Accrued liabilities
Deposits payable
Current portions of water revenue bonds
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Water revenue bonds
Total liabilities

$

$

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

$

7,254,016
782,953
669,394
31,350
8,737,713

$

5,896,229
608,936
674,833
29,613
7,209,611

87,324
1,069,078
58,945,636
230,382
(27,718,706)
32,613,714

87,324
714,587
58,117,955
56,447
(26,136,931)
32,839,382

5,106
5,209,158
5,214,264
46,565,691

6,779,600
6,779,600
46,828,593

783,021
147,664
257,382
71,004
410,000
1,669,071
17,657,989
19,327,060

19,754,883
1,656,629
5,827,119
27,238,631

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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2020

$

$

$

$

$

639,004
240,196
434,819
75,479
300,000
1,689,498
17,941,983
19,631,481

21,376,999
859,793
4,960,320
27,197,112
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SUISUN/SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
(A JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY)
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020)
2021
Operating revenues:
Water sales
Other water revenues
Total operating revenues

$

Operating expenses:
Wells, tanks and transmission lines
General operations and maintenance
Billing and collection
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

6,533,505
447,620
6,981,125

2020
$

6,420,773
410,965
6,831,738

1,513,335
2,276,902
893,449
1,581,775
6,265,461

1,286,850
2,553,574
959,681
1,035,525
5,835,630

715,664

996,108

14,818
(505,205)
(238,524)
(728,911)

309,903
(674,118)
(364,215)

(13,247)

631,893

Capital contributions - water capacity fees

54,766

29,831

Change in net position

41,519

661,724

27,197,112

26,535,388

Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income
Interest expense
Bond issuance
Net non-operating revenues (expenses)
Income before capital contributions

Net position at beginning of fiscal year
Net position at end of fiscal year

$

27,238,631

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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SUISUN/SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
(JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020)
2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers
Payments to Solano Irrigation District for operations and maintenance
Payments to City of Suisun City for administration and billing
Payments to other suppliers
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Water capacity fees
Principal paid on revenue bonds
Interest paid on revenue bonds
Cash paid into trust to defease bonds
Proceeds from bond issuance - net
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Net cash provided by (used for) capital and related financing activities

6,808,072
(2,989,619)
(1,334,914)
(394,310)
2,089,229

2020
$

6,709,300
(2,850,354)
(1,254,541)
(386,322)
2,218,083

54,766
(300,000)
(710,255)
(8,846,370)
8,846,370
(1,356,107)
(2,311,596)

29,831
(140,000)
(709,391)
(7,998,962)
(8,818,522)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Increase (decrease) in restricted investments
Interest received
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities

1,565,336
14,818
1,580,154

7,011,070
309,903
7,320,973

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

1,357,787

720,534

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of fiscal year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of fiscal year
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in deposits payable
Net cash provided by (used for) operations

$

5,896,229
7,254,016

$

5,175,695
5,896,229

$

715,664

$

996,108

$

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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1,581,775

1,035,525

(168,578)
(1,737)
144,017
(177,437)
(4,475)
2,089,229

(116,953)
(4,001)
(1,217)
314,106
(5,485)
2,218,083

$
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Suisun/Solano Water Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2021
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. The financial reporting entity
On May 17, 1976, the Solano Irrigation District and the City of Suisun City entered into a Joint
Powers Agreement for the construction and operation of a District Water System in the Tolenas
area. In 1982, the District operated the water treatment function only. The maintenance and
operation of the entire water system was taken over by the District effective January 1, 1990. The
responsibility for all financial accounting functions is that of the City of Suisun City.
For financial purposes, the Suisun/Solano Water Authority Joint Powers Authority (the
“Authority") includes all of the enterprise funds relevant to the operations of the Authority. The
Authority does not meet the required criteria to be considered a component unit of either the
Solano Irrigation District or the City of Suisun City. It was established to be a separate and distinct
entity. The Authority is considered a joint venture without an equity interest between the City of
Suisun City and the Solano Irrigation District. As a result, the Authority is not reflected in the City
of Suisun City’s nor Solano Irrigation District's financial statements.
The Solano Irrigation District is responsible for the operation and maintenance of all water
facilities under control of the Authority. The City of Suisun City is responsible for all of the billing
of water service and shall collect and invest all monies. Both the Solano Irrigation District and the
City of Suisun City are paid for their respective services rendered.
B. Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and basis of presentation
The financial statements of the Authority are presented as those of an enterprise fund under the
broad category of funds called proprietary funds. All proprietary funds utilize the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
With the economic resources measurement focus, all assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources of the enterprise are recorded in its statement of net
position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, all revenues are recognized when earned, and all
expenses, including depreciation, are recognized when liabilities are incurred or economic assets
utilized.
Deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net position by the Authority that is applicable
to a future reporting period. Deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of net position by the
Authority that is applicable to a future reporting period.
Unearned revenue arises when assets are received before revenue recognition criteria have been
satisfied. Grants and entitlements received before eligibility requirements are met are recorded as
liabilities from unearned revenue.
Enterprise funds account for business-like activities provided to the general public. These activities
are financed primarily by user charges, and the measurement of financial activity focuses on net
income measurement similar to the private sector. The acquisition and capital improvement of the
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physical plant facilities requires that these goods and services be financed from existing cash
resources, cash flow from operations, the issuance of debt, and contributed capital.
C. Financial reporting program structure
Operations program - This program is used to account for all gross revenues of water sales and
other water revenues, except for connection fees. It is used to pay all operating costs and accounts
for the property and equipment of the Authority. The long-term debt is also accounted for in the
operations program.
Capacity program - This program is used to account for the water capacity fee revenues.
Expansion program - This program is used to account for the debt service payments of the
Authority. It also includes the restricted investments, which are held by the 2019 and 2021 Water
Revenue Refunding Bonds Trustee.
D. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows, and equity
Cash and investments
Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as highly liquid short-term investments. The
Authority's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash pooled with the City of Suisun
City, with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Disclosures (Amendment of
GASB No.3), certain disclosure requirements for Deposits and Investment Risks were made in the
areas of interest rate risk and credit risk. The credit risk disclosures include the following
components; overall credit risk, custodial credit risk and concentrations of credit risk. In addition,
other disclosures are specified including use of certain methods to present deposits and
investments, highly sensitive investments, credit quality at year-end and other disclosures.
Investments are recorded at fair value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value
Measurement and Application. Accordingly, the change in fair value of investments is recognized
as an increase or decrease to investment assets and investment income.
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction. In determining this amount, three valuation techniques are available:
•
•
•

Market approach - This approach uses prices generated for identical or similar assets or
liabilities. The most common example is an investment in a public security traded in an active
exchange such as the NYSE.
Cost approach - This technique determines the amount required to replace the current asset.
This approach may be ideal for valuing donations of capital assets or historical treasures.
Income approach - This approach converts future amounts (such as cash flows) into a current
discounted amount.
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Each of these valuation techniques requires inputs to calculate a fair value. Observable inputs have
been maximized in fair value measures, and unobservable inputs have been minimized.
The Authority pools its unrestricted cash with the City of Suisun City. Interest income is allocated
to the Authority based on its proportionate share of the pool. The Authority's restricted cash, cash
equivalents, and investments are held by the Bond Trustee.
Receivables and payables
Trade accounts receivable (including unbilled receivables) are carried at their net realizable values.
Prepayments
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded
as prepaid items.
Restricted assets
Certain investments have been placed with a Bond Trustee according to the requirements of Water
Revenue Bonds Series 2019 and 2021. Accordingly, such investments have been classified as
restricted in the accompanying financial statements.
Capital assets
Capital assets, including costs of additions to treatment plants and major replacements of property,
are capitalized and stated at cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. The
Authority capitalizes all capital asset additions greater than $5,000. Such capital costs include
materials, direct labor, transportation, and such indirect costs as interest, engineering, supervision,
and employee fringe benefits. Donated capital assets and capital assets received in a service
concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value rather than fair value. Repairs,
maintenance, and minor replacements of property are expensed.
Depreciation
Depreciation of all capital assets in service is charged as an expense against operations each year.
Accumulated depreciation, the total amount of depreciation taken over the years, is reported on the
statement of net position as a reduction in the gross value of the capital assets.
Depreciation of capital assets in service is calculated using the straight line method, dividing the
cost of the asset by its expected useful life in years. The result is charged to expense each year until
the asset is fully depreciated.
The Authority has assigned the following useful lives to capital assets:
Class of Capital Asset
Office equipment
Water facilities

Estimated Useful Life
3
40-50
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Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred charges on refunding are reported as deferred outflows pursuant to the current
governmental accounting standards and amortization is included in interest expense.
Net position
Net position is measured on the full accrual basis and is the excess of all the Authority’s assets and
deferred outflows of resources over all its liabilities. Net position is classified into the following
components:
•

Net Investment in Capital Assets - This component of net position consists of capital assets,
including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the
outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets or related debt are also included in this component of net position,
as applicable. As of June 30, 2021, capital assets net of accumulated depreciation totaling
$32,613,714 was increased by unspent bond proceeds of $5,209,158 and reduced by accounts
payable associated with capital asset acquisition and related debt of $18,067,989.

•

Restricted net position describes the portion of net position which is restricted as to use by the
terms and conditions of agreement with outside parties, governmental regulations, laws, or
other restrictions which the Authority cannot unilaterally alter. It is the Authority’s policy to
apply restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both
restricted and unrestricted net position is available.

•

Unrestricted - This component of net position consists of the net amount of the assets, deferred
outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the
determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted component of net position.

Comparative data
Comparative data for the prior year has been presented in selected sections of the accompanying
financial statements in order to provide an understanding of the changes in the Authority's financial
position and operations.
E. Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with governmental accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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F. Classification of Revenues
Operating revenues consist primarily of water service charges to customers, which are billed and
collected on behalf of the Authority by the City of Suisun City (“City”) on a bi-monthly basis. The
City remits those charges to the Authority and handles all delinquencies, retaining its portion as
administrative costs pursuant to the JPA agreement.
Nonoperating revenues consist of investment income and special charges that can be used for either
operating or capital purposes.
Capital contributions consist of contributed capital assets, connection, and capacity fees that are
legally restricted for capital expenditures by State law or by Board actions that established those
charges. Connection and capacity fees represent a one-time contribution of resources to the
Authority, imposed on contractors and developers for the purpose of financing capital
improvements.
G. Implementation of New Accounting Pronouncements
GASB Statement No. 84, “Fiduciary Activities.” Issued in January 2017, this statement establishes
criteria for identifying fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and
describes four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable. The statement is effective
beginning fiscal year 2021. The Authority did not identify any activities that met the definition of
a Fiduciary Fund or Component Unit per GASB 84.
H. Upcoming New Accounting Pronouncements
The Authority is currently analyzing its accounting practices to determine the potential impact on
the financial statements of the following recent GASB Statements:
GASB Statement No. 87, “Leases.” Issued in June 2017, this statement establishes standards of
accounting and financial reporting for leases by lessees and lessors. It provides guidance on
accounting treatment of lease assets, lease liability, short-term leases, certain regulated leases,
measurement for leases other than short-term leases and contracts that transfer ownership,
subleases, lease-leaseback transactions, intra-entity leases, and leases between related parties. The
statement will be effective beginning fiscal year 2022.
GASB Statement No. 91, “Conduit Debt Obligations.” Issued in May 2019, this statement provides
a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminates diversity in practice
associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit
debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. The statement will be effective beginning fiscal
year 2023.
GASB Statement No. 92, “Omnibus 2020.” Issued in January 2020, this statement was issued for
clarity and consistency by addressing practice issues identified from the implementation and
application of certain GASB statements. The statement will be effective beginning fiscal year 2022.
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GASB Statement No. 93, “Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates.” Issued in March 2020, this
statement is to address accounting and financial reporting implications that result from the
replacement of an interbank offered rate (IBOR) such as the London Interbank Offered Rate
(LIBOR). As a result of global reference rate reform, LIBOR is expected to cease to exist in its
current form at the end of 2021. The statement will be effective beginning fiscal year 2022.
GASB Statement No. 94, “Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability
Payment Arrangements.” Issued in March 2020, this statement is to improve financial reporting
by establishing the definitions of public-private and public-public partnership arrangements (PPPs)
and available payment arrangement (APAs) and providing uniform guidance on accounting and
financial reporting for transactions that meet those definitions. The statement will be effective
beginning fiscal year 2023.
GASB Statement No. 96, “Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements.” Issued in
May 2020, the statement provides guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for
subscription based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) for governments by (1)
defining a SBITA, (2) establishing that a SBITA results in a right-to-use subscription asset-an
intangible asset-and a corresponding subscription liability, (3) providing the capitalization criteria
for outlays other than subscription payments, including implementation costs of a SBITA, and (4)
requiring note disclosures regarding a SBITA. The statement will be effective beginning fiscal year
2023.
GASB Statement No. 97, “Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans—an amendment
of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a supersession of GASB Statement No. 32.” Issued in
June 2020, the statement will result in more consistent financial reporting of defined contribution
pension plans, defined contribution OPEB plans, and other employee benefit plans (e.g., certain
Section 457 plans), while mitigating the costs associated with reporting those plans. The statement
will be effective beginning fiscal year 2022.
NOTE 2 - CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS
Summary of Cash and Investments
As of June 30, 2021, the Authority had the following cash and investments:
Held by Bond Trustee:
US Bank Global Corporate Trust
Money Market Mututal Funds
Cash and investment pooled with City of Suisun City
Total cash and investments
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5,214,264
7,254,016

$

12,468,280
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Fair Value Measurements
GASB 72 established a hierarchy of inputs to the valuation techniques above. This hierarchy has three
levels:
•
•

•

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 inputs are quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other than quoted prices
that are not observable.
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs, such as a property valuation or an appraisal.

The Authority has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2021:
•

•

The Authority pooled cash with the City of Suisun City totaling $7,254,016, which is exempt
from input reporting.
The Authority had cash held by the bond trustee of $5,214,265; valued using Level 2 inputs.

Collateral and Categorization Requirements
The California Government Code requires California banks and savings and loan associations to secure
the Authority’s deposits by pledging government securities as collateral. The market value of pledged
securities must equal at least 110% of the Authority’s deposits. California law also allows financial
institutions to secure the Authority’s deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a
value of at least 150% of the Authority’s total deposits.
Investment Policy
The Authority’s investment policy follows the California Government Code which authorizes the
Authority to invest in its own bonds, certain time deposits, obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies
and instrumentalities, commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances with maturities not to exceed 270 days,
and medium-term notes issued by corporations operating within the U.S., commercial paper rated P-1
or higher by Moody’s or A-1 by Standard & Poor’s commercial paper record, repurchase agreements
of obligations of the U.S. Government or its agencies for a term of one year or less and the Local
Agency Investment Fund.
The funds pooled with the City are invested in accordance with the City's investment policy established
pursuant to state law. All monies not required for immediate expenditure are deposited or invested to
earn maximum yield consistent with safety and liquidity. The Authority's restricted funds, which are
held by the Bond Trustee, are invested according to the Indenture of Trust which authorizes
investments in additional types of instruments other than those permitted by the Suisun/Solano Water
Authority investment policy, but that are still pursuant to state law.
Cash with Fiscal Agent
Cash with fiscal agent represents deposits in trust accounts, and in the Authority’s name, from revenue
bond proceeds remaining after issuance, capital facility surcharges collected to repay the revenue
bonds, and minimum reserve requirements established by bond covenants.
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Risk Disclosures
Limitations as they relate to interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk are described
below:
A. Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value
of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of
its fair value to the changes in market interest rates. All of the Authority’s cash is held in pooled
accounts and money markets that mature in one year.
B. Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical
rating organization. Money Market Mutual Funds held by the trustee are not rated.
C. Custodial Credit Risk
Custodial credit risk for deposit is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits nor will it be able to recover
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for
investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, a
government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are
in the possession of another party. The California Government Code and the Authority’s
investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to
custodial credit risk for deposits or investments, other than the following provision for deposits:
The California Government Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by state
or local governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a
depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit). The market value
of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110 percent of the total amount
deposited by the public agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to secure
Authority’s deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150 percent of
the secured public deposits. With respect to investments, custodial credit risk generally applies
only to direct investment in marketable securities. Custodial credit risk does not apply to a local
government’s indirect investment in securities through the use of mutual funds or government
investment pools (such as LAIF). The State of California has no additional requirements for
custodial credit risk, nor does the Authority.
The Authority’s cash and investments are pooled with the City of Suisun City. The City’s cash and
investment pool is under the oversight of the City and is not rated. For additional information
regarding the pooled cash and investments with respect to the risks identified above, please refer
to the City of Suisun City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR).
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D. Concentration of Credit Risk
The Authority's cash and investment funds are pooled with the City of Suisun City and held with
fiscal agent. The investment policy regarding the amount that can be invested in any one issuer is
stipulated by the California Government Code. The Authority is required to disclose investments
that represent a concentration of five percent or more of investments in any one issuer, held by the
Authority in securities of issuers other than U. S. Treasury securities, mutual funds, and external
investment pools. At June 30, 2021, there is no investment representing five percent or more from
any one issuer.
NOTE 3 - CAPITAL ASSETS
The Authority’s plant and facilities capital assets consisted of the following as of June 30, 2021:

Non-depreciable capital assets:
Land and improvements
Construction in progress
Total non-depreciable capital assets
Depreciable capital assets:
Water facilities
Computer equipment
Total depreciable capital assets
Less - accumulated depreciation
Depreciable capital assets, net
Total capital assets - net

June 30, 2020
$

87,324
714,587
801,911

$

58,117,955
56,447
58,174,402
26,136,931
32,037,471
$ 32,839,382

Transfers/
Deletions

Additions
354,491
354,491

$

827,681
173,935
1,001,616
1,581,775
(580,159)
$

(225,668)

$

June 30, 2021
-

$

87,324
1,069,078
1,156,402

-

58,945,636
230,382
59,176,018
27,718,706
31,457,312

-

$ 32,613,714

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2021 was $1,581,775.
NOTE 4 - LONG TERM DEBT
The following is a summary of long-term debt for the year:

Description
Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2016
Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2019
Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2021
Subtotal Bonds
Unamortized Premiums
Total Long Term Debt

Beginning
Balance
$ 7,800,000
8,785,000
16,585,000
1,656,983
$ 18,241,983

Additions
$
9,090,000
9,090,000
$ 9,090,000

Deletions
$ 7,800,000
155,000
7,955,000
1,308,994
$ 9,263,994

Ending
Balance
$
8,630,000
9,090,000
17,720,000
347,989
$ 18,067,989

Due
Within One
Year
$
165,000
245,000
410,000
$ 410,000

On October 1, 2016, the Authority issued Series 2016 revenue bonds which bear interest at rates from
3 percent to 5 percent. Interest is payable each March 1st and September 1st and principal matures
each September 1st through 2046. The bonds were issued to fund the acquisition and construction of
water system improvements. These bonds were refunded by the issuance of the 2021 Water Revenue
Refunding Bonds.
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On March 7, 2019, the Authority issued Series 2019 revenue bonds which bear interest at rates from 3
percent to 5 percent. Interest is payable each March 1st and September 1st and principal matures each
September 1st through 2048. The bonds were issued to finance capital improvement to the water
system. The Authority’s “net revenues”, as defined in the official bond statement, are pledged to secure
payment of the principal and interest on the bonds.
On April 8, 2021, the Authority issued the 2021 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds in the principal
amount of $9,090,000. The purpose of the bond is to refund, in full, the Authority’s Water Revenue
Bonds, Series 2016. Semi-annual interest payments are due on March 1 and September 1. Repayments
are secured by future water rate revenues. Interest on the bonds is 0.25 – 2.34% and matures on
September 1, 2046. The Authority defeased the 2016 Water Revenue Bonds by placing the proceeds
of new bonds in a trust. As a result of the defeasance, the Authority recognized a gain on early
retirement of long-term debt of $105,071.
Future debt service on the bonds at June 30, 2021 is as follows:
Year Ending
June 30,
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027-2031
2032-2036
2037-2041
2042-2046
2047-2049
Totals

$

$

Principal
410,000
450,000
460,000
465,000
475,000
1,980,000
2,990,000
3,510,000
4,160,000
2,820,000
17,720,000

$

$

Interest
709,738
696,388
681,638
666,213
650,113
2,841,138
2,443,288
1,806,716
1,048,347
185,188
11,728,765

$

$

Total
1,119,738
1,146,388
1,141,638
1,131,213
1,125,113
4,821,138
5,433,288
5,316,716
5,208,347
3,005,188
29,448,765

Optional redemption
The Series 2019 bonds maturing on or before September 1, 2029, are not subject to optional redemption
prior to maturity. The Series 2019 bonds maturing on or after September 1, 2030, are subject to
redemption prior to their respective maturity dates, at the option of the Authority, as a whole or in part,
as determined by the Authority, on any date on or after September 1, 2029, from any source of available
funds, at the principal amount of the Series 2019 bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon
to the date of redemption, without premium.
The Series 2021 bonds maturing on or before September 1, 2031, are not subject to optional redemption
prior to maturity. The Series 2021 bonds maturing on or after September 1, 2032, are subject to
redemption prior to their respective maturity dates, at the option of the Authority, as a whole or in part,
as determined by the Authority, on any date on or after September 1, 2031, from any source of available
funds, at the principal amount of the Series 2021 bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon
to the date of redemption, without premium.
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Mandatory redemption
The Series 2019 bonds maturing September 1, 2044 and September 1, 2048 are subject to mandatory
sinking payment redemption in part on September 1, 2040 and September 1, 2045, respectively, and
on each September 1 thereafter to maturity, by lot, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount thereof to be redeemed, without premium, in the aggregate respective principal amounts as set
forth in the following table:
Maturing September 1, 2048
Maturing September 1, 2044
Sinking Account
Sinking Account
Redemption Date Principal Amount Redemption Date Principal Amount
(September 1)
to be Redeemed
(September 1)
to be Redeemed
2040
$
365,000
2045
$
450,000
2041
380,000
2046
465,000
2042
400,000
2047
470,000
2043
415,000
2048 (Maturity)
490,000
2044 (Maturity)
430,000

The Series 2021 bonds maturing September 1, 2044 and September 1, 2048 are subject to mandatory
sinking payment redemption in part on September 1, 2040 and September 1, 2045, respectively, and
on each September 1 thereafter to maturity, by lot, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount thereof to be redeemed, without premium, in the aggregate respective principal amounts as set
forth in the following table:
Maturing September 1, 2041
Maturing September 1, 2046
Maturing September 1, 2036
Sinking Account
Sinking Account
Sinking Account
Redemption Date Principal Amount Redemption Date Principal Amount Redemption Date Principal Amount
(September 1)
to be Redeemed
(September 1)
to be Redeemed
(September 1)
to be Redeemed
2032
$
320,000
2037
$
370,000
2042
$
425,000
2033
330,000
2038
380,000
2043
440,000
2034
340,000
2039
395,000
2044
450,000
2035
350,000
2040
405,000
2045
465,000
2036 (Maturity)
360,000
2041 (Maturity)
420,000 2046 (Maturity)
480,000

NOTE 5 - RISK MANAGEMENT
The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of; damage to; and destruction
of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters. The Authority participates in the Association of
California Water Agencies Joint Powers Authority (“JPA”). The purpose of the JPA is to spread the
adverse effects of losses among the member agencies and to purchase excess insurance as a group,
thereby reducing expenses. General liability coverage for the Authority is limited to $2,000,000 per
occurrence and in aggregate. The Authority contributes its pro rata share of anticipated losses to pools
administered by the JPA. The liability coverage has no deductible. The JPA is self-insured for the first
$1,000,000 and retains excess insurance coverage thereafter. There were no settlements that exceeded
coverage for each of the past three years.
Audited financial statements of the JPA may be obtained from 5620 Birdcage Street, Suite #200, Citrus
Heights, CA 95610.
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NOTE 6 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Authority is contingently liable in connection with claims and contracts arising in the normal
course of its activities. Authority’s management is of the opinion that the ultimate outcome of such
matters will not have a significant effect on the financial position of the Authority.
NOTE 7 - COVID-19 PANDEMIC IMPACT
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus surfaced (COVID-19 or CV19) and spread around the
world, with resulting business and social disruption. The operations and business results of the Authority
could be materially and adversely affected in the future, including a reduction in the level of funding and
potential impacts from the timing of cash flows. In addition, significant estimates may be materially and
adversely impacted by national, state and local events designed to contain the coronavirus. Debt ratings for
outstanding issuances may further be impacted. For the 2021-2022 fiscal year, the Authority will continue
to monitor the impact CV19 has on the national and local economy in an effort to anticipate any potentially
negative impact it may have on the Authority. As of the date of issuance of these financial statements, the
Authority had not suffered a material adverse impact from the CV19 Crisis. However, the future impact of
the CV19 Crisis cannot be reasonably estimated.
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SUISUN/SOLANO WATER AUTHORITY
(A JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY)
COMBINING PROGRAM STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals as of June 30, 2020)
Operations
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and investments
Accounts receivable
Unbilled receivables
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

$

Capacity

5,208,416
782,953
669,394
31,350
6,692,113

Capital assets:
Land
Construction in progress
Water facilities
Office equipment
Accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, net

87,324
1,069,078
58,945,636
230,382
(27,718,706)
32,613,714

Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value
Total restricted assets
Total assets

5,106
5,106
39,310,933

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Interest payable
Accrued liabilities
Deposits payable
Current portion of water revenue bonds
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Water revenue bonds
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

$

$

$

$

547,738
51,970
71,004
410,000
1,080,712

17,657,989
17,657,989
18,738,701

19,754,883
(4,973,875)
5,791,224
20,572,232

$

895,688
895,688

Expansion

$

-

$

$

$

$

$
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895,688

-

-

859,793
35,895
895,688

1,149,912
1,149,912

2021

$

-

$

$

$

$

$

5,209,158
5,209,158
6,359,070

235,283
147,664
205,412
588,359

588,359

5,770,711
5,770,711

$

$

$

$

$

7,254,016
782,953
669,394
31,350
8,737,713

2020

$

5,896,229
608,936
674,833
29,613
7,209,611

87,324
1,069,078
58,945,636
230,382
(27,718,706)
32,613,714

87,324
714,587
58,117,955
56,447
(26,136,931)
32,839,382

5,106
5,209,158
5,214,264
46,565,691

6,779,600
6,779,600
46,828,593

783,021
147,664
257,382
71,004
410,000
1,669,071

17,657,989
17,657,989
19,327,060

19,754,883
1,656,629
5,827,119
27,238,631

$

$

$

$

$

639,004
240,196
434,819
75,479
300,000
1,689,498

17,941,983
9,336,169
19,631,481

21,376,999
859,793
4,960,320
27,197,112
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(A JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY)
COMBINING PROGRAM STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020)
Operations
Operating revenues:
Water sales
Other water revenues
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:
Wells, tanks and transmission lines
General operations and maintenance
Billing and collection
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income
Interest expense
Bond Issuance
Net nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Income before capital contributions
Capital contributions - water capacity fees
Income (loss) before operating transfers
Transfers in
Transfers out
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of fiscal year
Net position at end of fiscal year

$

6,533,505
447,620
6,981,125

Capacity
$

1,512,274
2,265,758
893,449
1,581,775
6,253,256

-

Expansion
$

-

887
887

1,061
10,257
11,318

727,869

(887)

897
117,625
(238,524)
(120,002)
607,867
-

996,108

(278)
(278)

14,199
(622,830)
(608,631)

14,818
(505,205)
(238,524)
(728,911)

309,903
(674,118)
(364,215)

(1,165)

(619,949)

(13,247)

631,893

54,766

29,831

41,519

661,724

-

1,036,007
(667,899)

257,465

35,895

(251,841)

20,314,767

859,793
895,688
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6,420,773
410,965
6,831,738

715,664

(17,706)

$

$

(11,318)

(619,949)

$ 20,572,232

6,533,505
447,620
6,981,125

1,286,850
2,553,574
959,681
1,035,525
5,835,630

53,601

2,660,716
(3,011,118)

$

2020

1,513,335
2,276,902
893,449
1,581,775
6,265,461

54,766

607,867

2021

3,696,723
(3,696,723)

10,748,030
(10,748,030)

41,519

661,724

6,022,552

27,197,112

26,535,388

$ 5,770,711

$ 27,238,631

$ 27,197,112
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED
ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
To the Board of Directors
of the Suisun/Solano Water Authority
City of Suisun City, California
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the
business-type activities of the Suisun/Solano Water Authority (the “Authority") as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
March 5, 2022.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s
internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the Authority’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose
described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly,
we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control
and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

March 5, 2022
Morgan Hill, California
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